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  Foreword from our Chairwoman  
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As Britain’s national equality and 
human rights body, we are here to 
represent everyone. It is our role to 
uphold the law and make sure people 
are free from discrimination and can 
fulfil their full potential.

The global pandemic and national health 
crisis has brought the value of equality and 
human rights to many people’s attention.

The whole country has had to adapt, 
prioritise and respond to the events of the 
last year. At the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission (EHRC), we responded quickly 
and effectively to the national emergency in 
reorganising our priorities. The restrictions 
in lockdown, families unable to see relatives 
in care homes, and disruption to children’s 
education were all given due attention in our 
revised plans. The expertise and knowledge 
of our staff helped make sure that disabled 
people could continue accessing vital 
services, and that businesses making 
tough decisions, such as on furlough or 
redundancy, did so with equality law in mind.

Equality law did not change during the 
pandemic, and it remained the role of the 
EHRC to make sure that it was followed.  
This year we completed our investigation 
into the Labour Party and our assessment 
of how the Home Office implemented 
immigration policies that affected the 
Windrush generation. Along with the 
investigation into equal pay at the BBC, 
these high-profile and rigorous applications 
of our legal powers and duties were a model 
of what can be achieved.   

Having joined as Chairwoman of the EHRC 
in December 2020, I was struck by the speed 
with which the organisation responded to 
COVID-19, while still completing these major 
projects. That reflects the dedication of the 
people who work at the EHRC and I want 



to thank everyone for their hard work 
during this difficult year. I also cannot 
claim all the credit for leading the 
organisation to achieve what it did this 
year. I would like to thank David Isaac 
as preceding Chair until August 2020 
and Caroline Waters as Interim Chair 
until November 2020 for their sound 
leadership of the Board before I took 
up post. 

Equality and human rights are central 
to our future. They should be at the 
heart of how we overcome the effects 
of the pandemic and look ahead to 
new challenges, such as the rise of 
technology. This is an exciting time to 
be leading the EHRC and I look forward 
to our continued progress together.

Baroness Kishwer Falkner,  
Chairwoman



  Foreword from our Chief Executive  
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No one could have predicted that we 
would spend over a year separated from 
colleagues and working from home.  
As with every other organisation this 
clearly presented us with a number of 
challenges, but each one has been faced 
head-on and with enthusiasm to get the 
job done. 

The expertise, professionalism and passion 
of the people who work at the Equality and 
Human Rights Commission has never been 
more evident.

Our corporate teams worked tirelessly to 
put in place and sustain what was needed in 
terms of IT systems, wellbeing support and 
communications. 

The COVID-19 pandemic required us to 
alter our work programme, both in terms 
of how we worked and what we worked 
on. This included stopping or reprioritising 
work and aligning our budgets, staffing 
and structures to our new priorities. All of 

our people responded positively to these 
changes, taking up new challenges with 
determination, gathering and analysing new 
data and providing expert advice at pace 
to governments and parliaments. We also 
completed and successfully launched our 
highest-profile interventions to date, with the 
Labour Party and BBC investigations and 
published an important assessment of the 
Home Office’s hostile environment policies. 

I thank all of our people for their 
commitment, resilience and never failing 
resolve to support each other and continue 
our mission to stand up for equality and 
human rights across our three nations.  



The Board has also provided constant 
support and direction as we navigated 
delivering existing high-priority projects 
of national interest, with the challenges 
of remote working and reprioritising.  
I would like to thank David Isaac, 
Caroline Waters, Kishwer Falkner and all 
the Commissioners for their leadership 
throughout the year. 

Equality and human rights provide a 
framework to help the country build 
back not just better, but fairer and we 
look forward to working with all of our 
partners across England, Scotland and 
Wales to play our part in the recovery. 
It has been a privilege to serve as 
Executive Director from the start of the 
year and as Interim Chief Executive 
from January 2021. 

Alastair Pringle 
Interim Chief Executive



Our equality and human rights 
mandate

We are a statutory non-departmental 
public body established by the Equality Act 
2006. We operate independently and are 
recognised as an expert and an authority 
on equality and human rights law, evidence 
and analysis. We are Britain’s national 
equality body and are accredited by the 
United Nations as an ‘A’ status national 
human rights institution (NHRI). This means 
that we have been assessed as meeting 
the minimum standards for effective and 
credible NHRIs as set out under the United 
Nations Paris Principles. 

We work with equivalent bodies in Scotland 
and Northern Ireland, across Europe and 
internationally, to protect and promote 
equality and human rights across Britain.

Under the Equality Act 2006, we have unique 
duties and powers:

• Equality and diversity: we promote 
awareness and understanding of 
legal rights, encourage good practice, 
enforce the Equality Act 2010 and work 
towards eliminating discrimination and 
harassment.

• Human rights: we promote awareness, 
understanding and protection of human 
rights and encourage good practice and 
compliance with the Human Rights Act 
1998.

• We monitor the effectiveness of equality 
and human rights laws and advise 
governments on how existing and 
proposed laws affect equality and human 
rights.

• We monitor and publish reports on 
progress in society on equality and 
human rights.

We have a general duty to encourage and 
support the development of a society in 
which:

• people’s ability to achieve their 
potential is not limited by prejudice or 
discrimination

• there is respect for and protection of 
each individual’s human rights

• there is respect for the dignity and worth 
of each individual

• each individual has an equal opportunity 
to participate in society, and

• there is a mutual respect between groups 
based on understanding and valuing 
diversity, and on respect for equality and 
human rights.

  Who we are and what we do  
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Our role

As a regulator, our purpose is to change 
behaviour in society and to prevent and 
stop unlawful actions through working with 
individuals and organisations in the public, 
private and voluntary sectors. We do this 
to improve equality, human rights and good 
relations in society. Helping people and 
organisations comply with the law is the 
main focus of this work, using the powers 
the Equality Act 2006 gives us.

We make sure that those who design and 
make decisions about laws, policies and 
practices respect and promote equality 
and human rights. We do this by raising 
awareness and understanding and by 
providing evidence, advice and guidance.  
We also use our enforcement powers, such 
as inquiries, investigations and case work, to 
require them to take action.

We always choose the approach we consider 
most effective in each situation. We base 
our actions on evidence and an assessment 
of what is in the public interest. In so doing, 
we are bound by the Hampton Code of 
Practice for Regulators, which outlines five 
principles of good regulation: proportionality, 
accountability, consistency, transparency 
and targeting.

 Further information on our approach to 
regulation and our regulatory objectives  
is on our website. 
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Our strategic goals 

Our strategic plan for 2019–22 contains 
a number of priority aims set under the 
following three strategic goals:

1. To ensure that people’s life chances 
aren’t held back by barriers in their way.

2. To make sure we have strong 
foundations on which to build a more 
equal and rights-respecting society.

3. To protect the rights of people in the 
most vulnerable situations.

Our business plan for 2021–22 sets out 
what we want to achieve in the final year of 
our current strategic plan.

Over the course of 2021–22, we will develop 
a new strategic plan to define our priorities 
for 2022 to 2025. A draft strategic plan will 
form the basis for a public consultation and 
focused stakeholder engagement over the 
summer. 

We have identified several emerging high-
level themes to help us prioritise the types 
of issues we want to focus on and the 
outcomes we will seek over the next three 
years. These themes currently include: 

• fairness for young people

• upholding rights in health and social care

• artificial intelligence and emerging digital 
technologies 

• fostering good relations – promoting 
mutual respect between groups and 
understanding of rights, and

• fairness in a changing workplace.

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/what-we-do/our-business-plan/business-plan-2021-2022


 Performance  
 report 

The performance report summarises what 
we have achieved over the past year and 
how we adapted our work in light of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.



 Business delivery 
  Performance report  

As did many other organisations, we carried 
out a rapid review of our plans and pivoted 
our focus to emerging issues. This led us 
to focus on the immediate effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on equality and human 
rights and, in particular, on issues around 
race and health and social care.  

Our re-prioritised business plan had 12 
key success measures, which we reported 
against to the Board throughout the year. Of 
these, 92% were either met or partially met by 
the end of the year.

	 This	section	briefly	summarises	some	
of the work we delivered over 2020–21. 
For a full account of our achievements 
and impact over the year, please read our 
Impact report 2020–21.

Our response to the coronavirus  
(COVID-19) pandemic 

The COVID-19 pandemic has changed 
everyday life in Britain and had significant 
implications for equality and human rights. 
The nature of this crisis meant responding 
to fast-moving risks and opportunities. 
For example, we raised serious concerns 
throughout the pandemic about ‘do not 
attempt resuscitation’ (DNAR) notices 
imposed on older and disabled people 
without consultation. Our calls helped 
secure a government-commissioned 
review of DNAR notices by the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC). We worked closely with 
the CQC on this review and have agreed to 
continue monitoring this issue as part of our 
ongoing partnership, working with them to 
help ensure everyone is treated with dignity 
and respect towards the end of their life.

The extraordinary events of 2020–21 
had a significant impact on our original 
priorities for the year. 
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In response to concerns during the first 
lockdown that supermarkets and other 
essential retailers were not responding 
sufficiently to the needs of disabled 
people, we issued a guide for retailers to 
highlight their legal responsibilities to make 
reasonable adjustments to accommodate 
everyone fairly. 

We also produced guidance for employers 
to make sure their decisions in response 
to COVID-19 did not discriminate against 
employees with protected characteristics, 
including those who are pregnant or on 
maternity leave. This guidance was shared 
and recommended widely by governments, 
professional bodies, charities and law firms 
specialising in employment law in the UK. 

Finally, in the aftermath of the cancellation 
of school exams across England, Scotland 
and Wales, we expressed our concern that 
the alternative models for assessment 
proposed by the bodies regulating exams 
could lead to bias and put the futures of 
disadvantaged young people at greater 
risk. Our advice and evidence on how to 
maintain equality and avoid discrimination 
in exam assessments was well-received 
and each of the regulating bodies has 

made public commitments to do more 
to understand, and take account of, the 
different needs and experiences of students 
in their arrangements for awarding National 
Qualifications in 2021.

We will continue to work to understand the 
effects of the pandemic and to research 
and make recommendations on how the 
outcomes for particular groups can be 
protected. For example, during the year we 
launched an inquiry into the experiences 
of ethnic minority people working on the 
frontline in lower-paid roles, particularly 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. Based on the 
evidence we find, in 2021–22 we will make 
recommendations aimed at employers, 
governments and other agencies to improve 
conditions for ethnic minority workers.
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Our use of legal powers

Over the course of the year we used our 
unique legal powers in a number of different 
ways to defend people from unfair or unequal 
treatment. 

For example, we published our inquiry report, 
‘Inclusive justice: a system designed for all’, 
which made five recommendations to the 
UK and Scottish governments and relevant 
agencies on designing justice systems 
across Britain, around the needs and abilities 
of disabled people.

We published an investigation into 
allegations of antisemitism in the Labour 
Party in October 2020, in which we found 
that the Labour Party was responsible 
for unlawful acts of harassment and 
discrimination. The Labour Party has since 
produced an action plan that we will monitor 
to make sure that all our recommendations 
are implemented and progress is achieved.

In November 2020 we reported on our 
investigation into equal pay at the BBC. While 
we found no unlawful acts, the BBC accepted 
that its historical practices were not fit for 
purpose and has publicly committed to 
greater transparency and fairness in its future 
practice. 

We also used our powers to look at how 
and whether the Home Office complied 
with the Public Sector Equality Duty when 
developing, implementing and monitoring 
its hostile environment immigration policies. 
Our assessment found that the Home Office 
failed to comply with equality law, with 
limited engagement with representatives of 
the Windrush generation, even as the severe 
effects of hostile environment policies began 
to emerge. The Home Office accepted our 
review and recommendations and signed 
a legal agreement with us, setting out the 
actions it will take to avoid such events ever 
happening again.

We contacted Pontins after a whistleblower 
suggested the owners of the holiday 
company were using a booking policy that 
excluded Gypsies and Travellers. This has 
led to Pontins signing a legally binding 
agreement with us to ensure that such acts 
of discrimination do not happen again.

We reached legally binding agreements with 
a wide range of organisations including 
Sainsbury’s, Highways England, LNER and 
Network Rail over a range of issues affecting 
a range of people. All of these agreements 
are intended to ensure that improvements 
are made to avoid acts of harassment of or 
discrimination against people in the future.
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Our advice to the UK Government 
and Parliament

Over the year we used our expertise to work 
with the UK Government and Parliament, 
advising on a full range of equality and 
human rights considerations.

Our advice on the Domestic Abuse Bill 
resulted in vital improvements to the 
protection and support available for domestic 
abuse victims across England and Wales. 
We also worked to make sure that people 
with mental health conditions and learning 
disabilities are better protected from the 
misuse of chemical restraint in prison. We 
funded a legal challenge and engaged closely 
with the Ministry of Justice on the rollout of 
PAVA spray in prisons in England and Wales 
during the COVID-19 pandemic, leading to an 
out-of-court settlement.

During the transition period after the UK left 
the European Union on 31 January 2020, 
we carefully scrutinised and advised the UK 
government and Parliament on proposals 
that had implications for protecting or 
advancing equality and human rights in the 
UK. For example, we advised Parliament 
on equality and human rights implications 
of the Immigration and Social Security Co-
ordination (EU Withdrawal) Bill. Our briefings 
were cited by a number of parliamentarians 
and several amendments we supported on 
detention were passed by the House of Lords.

We also engaged extensively with the 
Women and Equalities Parliamentary 
Committee on the unequal impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic in oral evidence sessions 
and written submissions on a number of 
topics. These included the experiences and 
treatment of ethnic minority workers in lower-
paid roles in health and social care, how the 
pandemic has affected women, human rights 
education, and gender equality in the House 
of Commons.

Our work in Scotland

In Scotland we engaged directly with 
justice portfolio leads in each political party 
to develop a potential motion to resolve 
concerns about freedom of speech in the 
high-profile Hate Crime and Public Order 
(Scotland) Bill. 

We pursued legal action, working alongside 
the Mental Welfare Commission for Scotland, 
when we discovered that a number of 
people were being held in two care homes 
in Glasgow without consent or lawful 
authority. As a result of our intervention, all 
existing patients in the two units have been 
discharged and NHS Greater Glasgow and 
Clyde committed to working with its partner 
local authorities to make sure that all patients 
and their families know what is happening 
and what their rights are.

We also published important research on 
the use of sexual history and bad character 
evidence in Scottish sexual offences trials, 
and how this affects survivors’ access to 
justice. This will lead to an assessment of the 
practice of the Crown Office and Procurator 
Fiscal Service in this area by the Chief 
Inspector of Prosecution in Scotland in 2021.
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Our work in Wales

In Wales we worked with race equality 
organisations to provide evidence and advice 
to inform the Welsh Government’s draft Race 
Equality Action Plan for Wales. The draft 
‘Race Equality Action Plan: Anti-racist Wales’ 
reflects our advice. 

We also provided evidence-based policy 
recommendations to the Welsh Government 
on factoring equality for older and disabled 
people into decision-making about public 
transport in Wales, resulting in a clear 
commitment to equality in the new Wales 
Transport Strategy 2021.

We advised the Welsh Government on the 
Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Bill, 
leading to an amendment which places a 
duty on teaching and learning providers for 
maintained schools and nursery schools to 
promote knowledge and understanding of the 
UN Conventions on the Rights of the Child 
and the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. 

Finally, we helped to secure the successful 
commencement of the Socio-economic Duty, 
which came into force in Wales on 31 March.

Our work to advance the aims of the 
Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)

Under the Equality Act 2010, our core 
business is to advance the three aims of the 
PSED through the delivery of our mandate.

We worked to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Act in a 
number of ways. For example, we developed 
guidance to support organisations to comply 
with the law during redundancy processes. 
We signed a legally binding agreement 
with Network Rail after it failed to make 
reasonable adjustments for disabled people 
during a refurbishment. Under our Access 
to Justice Aim we also funded a case which 
resulted in the Crown Prosecution Service 
stopping its use of digital data extraction 
consent forms with survivors of sexual 
abuse.

We also worked to advance equality of 
opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who 
do not. We submitted a parliamentary 
briefing on ‘equality and human rights in 
residential care during coronavirus’, which 
included clarifications for public bodies on 
their PSED obligations. We also undertook 
the assessment of the extent to which the 
Home Office implementation of the ‘hostile 
environment’ immigration policy was 
compliant with the PSED, and we intervened 
in Ofqual’s approach to standardising grades 
to ensure all pupils were treated fairly through 
the process, particularly ethnic minority and 
disabled children.
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Finally, we sought to foster good relations 
between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. We 
commissioned a survey into public attitudes 
towards transgender people and we 
published research on the implementation 
of human rights education across Britain. 
By ensuring children have a strong 
understanding of equality and human 
rights, we aim to provide strong foundations 
for good and lasting relations among the 
younger generation.

Our international work

This year we submitted evidence to the 
UN Committee on the Rights of the Child, 
expressing significant concerns about 
how the pandemic is affecting children’s 
rights, wellbeing and futures. We provided 
an extensive set of recommendations for 
the UK and Welsh governments to enhance 
and protect children’s rights. Our evidence 
influenced the list of priority issues that 
the Committee put to the UK Government, 
including issues relating to access to justice, 
education and the impact of the pandemic. 
This list of issues will inform the UN’s 
examination of the Government in 2022.

In December, we added new features to 
our online human rights tracker. These 
features analyse the progress the UK and 
Welsh governments have made to fulfil their 
human rights obligations. In response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, we also launched an 
online programme of training to help people 
use the tracker.

The COVID-19 pandemic meant that our 
planned handover of the Chair of the 
Commonwealth Forum of National Human 
Rights Institutions (CFNHRI) to the Rwanda 
National Commission for Human Rights 
was postponed and we continued as 
Chair through the year. During this time we 
communicated the role of National Human 
Rights Institutions (NHRIs) in protecting and 
promoting the rights of lesbian, gay, bisexual, 
trans and intersex (LGBTI) people in the 
Commonwealth and consulted on the priority 
issues facing Commonwealth NHRIs during 
the COVID-19 pandemic. This highlighted 
the effects of emergency legislation on the 
rights of disabled people and, together with 
nine other NHRIs and ombuds, we produced 
a good practice report on protecting disabled 
people’s rights during the pandemic.
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Our business model

In normal operating years we work from four 
locations: our head office is in Manchester 
and we have offices in London, Cardiff 
and Glasgow. To deliver our strategic 
plan, colleagues are organised into three 
groups called networks, each led by an 
Executive Director, which enables effective 
communication and strategic working 
practices. Each network is made up of 
specialist teams which provide expert input 
to support the delivery of our business 
plan. Each Executive Director also has 
responsibility for our work in one of our  
three nations.

Financial performance

Our resource budget for 2020–21 (excluding 
depreciation) of £17.1m consisted of  
£12.3m administration and £4.8m 
programme funding. We also received 
funding of £0.5m for capital expenditure.

Our net operational resource expenditure 
(excluding capital and depreciation) was 
£16.84m and our capital investment was 
£0.4m.

The annual statement of accounts and notes 
to the accounts for the year to 31 March 2021 
are set out from page 87 onwards.

 Corporate performance 
  Performance report  

We used our budget allocation during the 
year to achieve our business plan objectives. 
Further details are given in the ‘Performance 
report’ section on pages 13–19. 

With the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
reducing our expenditure on travel and 
subsistence and causing delays to our office 
relocation programme, we were able to 
introduce a more agile approach to business 
planning. Our 90-day review cycle allowed us 
to reprioritise and reallocate budget to areas 
with greater impact. This improvement in 
business and budget management allowed 
us to deliver a resource outturn with a 1.5% 
underspend of our £17.1m budget.

* excludes depreciation £512k, movement in 
provisions £17k (note 11), pension benefits 
paid (£99k) and pension scheme interest 
cost £25k (note 12). 

Performance against our resource funding 
(excluding capital and depreciation)

Year ended 31 March 2021

Total budget £’000 17,100

Total spend £’000 16,837*

Variance (underspend) £’000 (263)

% Variance (underspend) (1.5)
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Expenditure

Staff costs increased during 2020–21, 
as we continued to expand our in-house 
capability to reduce external expenditure. 

Corporate costs include ICT, Facilities and 
People (HR). During the year, we invested 
in additional remote working systems to 
support staff during lockdown. We also 
invested in systems to support the delivery 
of our business plan, including further 
development of our performance reporting 
system and case management recording 
system. 

External spend 
£1,037 

6.1%

Underspend 
£263 
1.5%

Staff costs 
£12,803 
74.9%

Corporate costs 
£2,991 
17.5%

External expenditure on delivery varies 
from year to year. We manage it as part of 
the business planning process so that we 
can allocate budgets accordingly. During 
the earlier months of 2020–21, significant 
uncertainty surrounded our plans due to the 
continuation of lockdown and restrictions 
on activities. 

In 2020–21, we spent £0.4m against our 
capital budget of £0.5m: an underspend of 
£0.1m equivalent to 25% of the budget. This 
expenditure related to further investment 
in IT systems. The underspend was caused 
by delays in agreement to move two of our 
office locations due to COVID-19.

  Spend 2020-21 (£'000)
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Capital structure

Our capital structure is shown as taxpayers’ equity in our financial statements. Expenditure in 
year is funded by grant-in-aid received from our sponsoring department. Cash flow is closely 
monitored throughout the year to make sure that we have sufficient cash to meet our liabilities 
and to pay our creditors promptly. We ended the year with a cash balance of £85k (2019–20: 
£185k). The statements of financial position and changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year  
(see pages 92–94) provide additional information.

 
Long-term expenditure trends and  
value for money

Our resource funding for 2020–21 of £17.1m was used to cover our operational costs and to 
fund our programme of work. In line with other government departments, we have continued to 
experience a reduction in funding year-on-year. Within the last five years our funding has reduced 
by 16.2% from £20.4m in 2016–17. We have continued to use our funding allocation to deliver 
work against our strategic objectives and annual business plan, identifying efficiencies in our 
operations and scrutinising spending decisions. Funding for 2021–22 has been confirmed in Main 
Estimates, 2021–22, Part III, Note E, page 396 and funding for future years will be determined by 
the next spending review.

Long-term expenditure trends (£000)
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1 We define ‘undisputed invoices’ as those that quote a valid purchase order number and 
where we are content with the goods or service provided.

Payment of suppliers

The public sector should set an example 
by paying suppliers promptly due to the 
impact late payment can have, especially on 
smaller businesses. We worked to uphold 
this philosophy during 2020–21, when many 
businesses have been negatively affected 
by the COVID-19 pandemic. We have settled 
all undisputed invoices1 as soon as possible: 
98% of all invoices were settled within five 
working days and 100% of undisputed 
invoices were paid within the target range of 
30 days.

Our people

We aspire to be an exemplary employer, 
providing the working environment, 
information technology, learning and 
development, and people policies that enable 
all our colleagues to thrive at work, perform 
to the best of their abilities and deliver our 
strategic plan. This commitment continued 
throughout this challenging year of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

Our priority was the health and wellbeing of 
our staff. We quickly provided people with 
the equipment they needed to work safely 
and productively, flexibility to balance caring 
responsibilities with work, and a wide range 
of initiatives to support mental health and 
wellbeing. We surveyed colleagues several 
times to make sure we were meeting their 
needs.

We reopened our Manchester headquarters in 
December 2020, in a COVID-secure way, for a 
small number of colleagues who were unable 
to work productively from home. We put in 
place a Winter Wellbeing programme, regular 
all-staff meetings, remote management 
training, support from our Mental Health First 
Aiders, a carers network and advice from our 
occupational health providers.
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We moved quickly to put in place online 
training, with a blended approach of 
computer-based learning and virtual 
classroom events. We prioritised a 
programme of peer learning, using our own 
in-house subject-matter experts to share  
their knowledge with colleagues, including 
sessions on the Equality Act and our  
legal powers. 

We also consulted widely with colleagues on 
the flexible working arrangements and ways 
of working that we will continue to implement 
in the ‘new normal’ world.

We participate in an annual staff survey. 
This recorded an Employee Engagement 
Index of 62% for 2020–21, compared with 
68% for 2019–20. While 2020–21 was a 
difficult year for many organisations, this was 
below our target of 70% and 4% lower than 
the Civil Service benchmark score. We are 
now working with individual managers and 
directors across the organisation to explore 
the underlying reasons for a reduction in staff 
engagement and put in place action plans 
that are most relevant to those teams.

Our sickness absence rate decreased this 
year, with an average 4.1 working days 
lost (AWDL) per FTE employee in 2020–21 
compared with 5.9 days in 2019–20. In 
particular, we saw a reduction in short-term 
absences which is likely due to national 
lockdowns and all staff working from home 
for the year.

Our rate of turnover of permanent staff was 
10% in 2020–21 compared with 11% in 
2019–20.

We commissioned an independent Equal Pay 
Audit, which found that our pay system is fair 
and non-discriminatory. At 31 March 2020, 
our ‘snapshot’ date, our pay gaps were as 
follows: 

• gender: -1.3% mean, -0.4% median

• disability: 8.6% mean, 0.4% median

• ethnicity: 6.3% mean, 0.9% median.

This year we also developed and launched 
our flagship Inclusion Programme.  
The Programme will run from 2020 to 2023 
and has stretching targets on workforce 
diversity, employee engagement and equal 
pay. In the first year of the Programme we 
introduced the ‘EmbRace’ positive action 
development scheme, investing in the 
development of a number of our colleagues 
from ethnic minority groups. We procured 
the ‘BeApplied’ recruitment tool, which 
is designed to automate and streamline 
recruitment, to increase the diversity of 
applicant pools and eliminate bias from 
selection. We also trained a diverse range 
of our recruiting managers in best practice 
recruitment and selection, and all our people 
attended disability awareness training.
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In small organisations such as ours, minor workforce changes can have a disproportionate effect 
on statistics. As a result of our recruitment practices, positive action programmes, and a small 
increase in self-declaration rates (4%), we continued to see positive changes in our workforce 
diversity, as detailed in the table below.

Characteristic 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 Difference2

Ethnicity

Ethnic minority 13% 14% 1%

White 82% 83% 1%

Prefer not to say / not declared 5% 3% -2%

Sex

Female 61% 60% -1%

Male 39% 40% 1%

Marital status

Married or in a civil partnership 46% 41% -5%

Not married or in a civil partnership 43% 33% -10%

Prefer not to say / not declared 11% 27% 16%

Religion or belief

No 35% 36% 1%

Yes 54% 54% -

Prefer not to say / not declared 11% 10% -1%

Disability

No 73% 74% 1%

Yes 17% 19% 2%

Prefer not to say / not declared 10% 7% -3%
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Characteristic 31 March 2020 31 March 2021 Difference2

Sexual orientation

Lesbian, gay, bisexual, other 11% 12% <1%

Heterosexual / straight 80% 80% -

Prefer not to say / not declared 9% 9% -

Caring responsibilities

No 50% 54% 4%

Yes 42% 41% -1%

Prefer not to say / not declared 8% 5% -3%

Age

16–24 1% 2% <1%

25–34 25% 25% -

35–44 34% 28% -6%

45–54 18% 23% 5%

55–64 20% 21% <1%

65+ 2% 2% -

Transgender

No 90% 93% 3%

Yes 0% 1% <1%

Prefer not to say / not declared 10% 7% -3%
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Media activity

National media coverage of our work and 
impact is a key performance indicator 
of our role to promote awareness and 
understanding of equality and human rights. 
In 2020–21 we achieved an increase of 29.5% 
(target 20%) in national media mentions, of 
which 95.7% (target 90%) were favourable.

Our equality objectives

Under the Equality Act 2010, all public bodies 
are subject to the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED). It is our job to regulate compliance 
with this duty and, as a public body, we must 
also comply with it.

As part of the PSED, we are required to set 
equality objectives. We have three types of 
equality objectives that relate to:

• delivering our mandate

• our people, and

• our intelligence gathering.

Our core business is to advance the 
aims of the PSED. These aims guided the 
development of our 2019–22 Strategic plan. 
The following is a summary of how we have 
advanced the aims of the PSED through the 
delivery of our mandate.
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Advance equality of opportunity 
between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those 
who do not 

• As part of our Institutions Aim we 
submitted a parliamentary briefing 
on ‘equality and human rights in 
residential care during coronavirus’, 
which included clarifications for public 
bodies on their PSED obligations. 

• As part of our Core Aim we undertook 
an assessment of the extent to which 
the Home Office implementation of 
the ‘hostile environment’ immigration 
policy was compliant with the PSED. 

• As part of our Education Aim we 
intervened in Ofqual’s approach to 
standardisation of grades to ensure all 
pupils were treated fairly through the 
process, particularly ethnic minority 
and disabled children.
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Eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act  

• In our Work Aim we developed 
guidance to support organisations to 
comply with the law during redundancy 
processes. Where unlawful practices 
persist, we used strategic enforcement 
powers to expose and stop the 
occurrence of such practices, and 
protect people against flagrant,  
serious and systemic abuses of the 
Equality Act. 

• As part of our Transport Aim, we 
signed a legally binding agreement 
with Network Rail after it failed to make 
reasonable adjustments for disabled 
people during a refurbishment. 

• Under our Access to Justice Aim we 
funded a case which resulted in the 
Crown Prosecution Service stopping its 
use of digital data extraction consent 
forms with survivors of sexual abuse.

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-employers
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-employers
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-guidance-employers
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/our-work/news/network-rail-signs-agreement-prevent-discrimination-against-disabled-people
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/our-work/news/network-rail-signs-agreement-prevent-discrimination-against-disabled-people


Corporate social responsibility

We are committed to working with our 
employees and suppliers to make sure 
that our corporate social responsibilities 
are embedded in our working practice and 
culture, consistent with our commitment to 
fairness, dignity and respect. 

We have a range of policies and practices 
to support our approach, include 
sustainability in our decision-making, and 
promote environmentally friendly practices 
throughout our estate by reducing our energy 
consumption, minimising waste and reducing 
our carbon footprint.

Our standard contracts all include modern 
slavery, anti-bribery and corruption, and 
transparency clauses. We make sure that 
people we contract with have policies in 
place to promote best practice in this area. 

Our employees are entitled to up to three 
days per year special leave (paid) to 
undertake voluntary work because we 
recognise that volunteering can be a way to 
share and gain new skills and develop links 
with the wider society. In 2020–21, 64 hours 
of volunteering or public and community 
leave were recorded. This shows a reduction 
from the previous year which is attributed to 
reduced opportunities due to lockdown. We 
also engaged with staff to enable those with 
caring responsibilities to take additional leave 
during the pandemic.

Foster good relations between 
people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not 

• As part of our work to balance 
overlapping rights in our Core Aim, we 
commissioned a survey into public 
attitudes towards transgender people.

• In our Education Aim we published 
research on the implementation of 
human rights education across Great 
Britain. By ensuring children have 
a strong understanding of equality 
and human rights, we aim to provide 
strong foundations for good and 
lasting relations among the younger 
generation.
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We have fewer than 250 employees and 
therefore operate below the threshold for 
mandatory sustainability and environmental 
reporting, although we support reporting 
through our parent department where 
required. We lease office space from 
landlords in larger buildings, so have limited 
direct control over heating and lighting – 
although we can seek to influence through 
the questions we ask when negotiating 
leases in the future.

In 2020–21, due to the impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic our offices were closed 
for the majority of the year and most of our 
staff worked from home. As a result, we 
observed:

• a reduction in premises-related energy 
costs

• a significant reduction in travel, and

• a significant reduction in office printing 
costs. 

There is little doubt that our environmental 
impact was reduced as a result, but as this 
was an exceptional year, we are unable to 
report any meaningful data.

As we emerge from the pandemic, and 
move to a hybrid working model, we have an 
opportunity to review the way that we work 
to reduce our environmental impact. We 
have commenced a review of sustainability 
at the EHRC, which will report in late 2021. 
This review will identify best practice in 
environmentally friendly working methods, 
and will make recommendations for 
monitoring and reporting in future years.

Going concern

Our financial statements have been prepared 
on a going-concern basis. This is based 
on our assessment that we will continue 
to receive funding and our operations will 
continue for the foreseeable future.

This assessment has also considered that, 
for non-trading public sector entities such as 
the Equality and Human Rights Commission, 
the government financial reporting manual 
(FReM) provides that ‘the anticipated 
continuation of the provision of a service 
in the future, as evidenced by inclusion 
of financial provision for that service in 
published documents, is normally sufficient 
evidence of going concern.’

The Equality Act 2006 requires the Secretary 
of State to provide sufficient funding for 
us to carry out our statutory functions. We 
are financed through grant-in-aid from our 
sponsoring department, the Cabinet Office. 
The grant-in-aid is included in our sponsoring 
department’s estimates for 2021–22, which 
have been approved by Parliament. 

We considered the continuing impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic during this period, 
which required us to reprioritise our work. 
We concluded that the pandemic would 
not affect our ability to meet our statutory 
obligations and there were no material 
uncertainties that would affect our ability to 
continue as a going concern.

Performance report signed by:

Alastair	Pringle,	Interim	Accounting	Officer 
7 July 2021
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 Corporate governance  
 report 

The corporate governance report explains how we 
are governed and managed, how our governance 
supports the delivery of the strategic plan and how 
we make sure our internal controls are effective.



It does not directly manage operations, but 
delegates that role to the Chief Executive. The 
Board holds the Chief Executive and staff to 
account by monitoring performance against 
our strategic priorities and making sure that 
resources are used effectively and efficiently.

The Minister for Women and Equalities 
appoints our Commissioners. Commissioner 
biographies are available on our website and 
information regarding their term of office  
is provided in the remuneration report on 
pages 56–61. On 31 March 2021, the Board 
comprised 13 non-executive Commissioners. 
The Chief Executive is a Commissioner  
ex officio.

The Board met six times during 2020. 
Meetings covered a range of topics and 
included a review of performance reports 
covering all aspects of our work and 
emerging issues. The Board received 
financial performance reports and the 
strategic risk register. It also received regular 
updates from its sub-committees, which 
enabled it to provide guidance to improve 
strategies, governance and risk management 
approaches.

The Board of Commissioners is the 
top-level decision-making body in the 
organisation. The Board is responsible 
for setting strategic direction, reviewing 
overall performance and delivery, and 
ensuring good governance.

 Board of Commissioners 
  Corporate governance report  
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Board meetings attendance by Commissioner and the Chief Executive 

Name Attendance / eligibility

David Isaac (Chair) 2/2

Baroness Kishwer Falkner  (Chairwoman) 2/2

Caroline Waters (Deputy Chair)3 6/6

Suzanne Baxter 4/6

Jessica Butcher 2/2

Pavita Cooper 5/6

David Goodhart 2/2

Alasdair Henderson 5/6

Susan Johnson4 6/6

Helen Mahy 6/6

Mark McLane 4/6

Lord Bernard Ribeiro 2/2

Lesley Sawers 6/6

Su-Mei Thompson 2/2

Rebecca Hilsenrath (Chief Executive) 4/4

Alastair Pringle (Acting Chief Executive) 2/2

3 The Board attendance figures for Caroline Waters include two while acting Chair.

4 The Board attendance figures for Susan Johnson include two while acting Deputy Chair.

Annual report and accounts 2020–21 33



Scotland Committee

The Scotland Committee exercises its powers 
as set out in the Equality Act 2006 to give 
advice to the Scottish Government about new 
laws or proposed changes to the law that 
affect only Scotland and to advise the Board 
on the impact of our work in Scotland.

The Scotland Committee was chaired by the 
Scotland Commissioner, Dr Lesley Sawers. It 
met formally five times and informally once 
during 2020–21. The Chair also convened 
two additional Committee calls.

In 2020–21, the Scotland Committee gave 
advice to the Board on matters including:

• our response to coronavirus (COVID-19)

• our revised business plan

• new areas of COVID-19 work including 
our health and social care and race 
inquiry

• our stakeholder engagement strategy 

• the development of our strategic plan for 
2022–25

• the future of human rights law in the UK

• delaying the publication of ‘Is Britain 
Fairer?’, and 

• our role in public debates. 

 
Committees of the Board

As set out in the Equality Act, two statutory committees with decision-making powers support the 
Board: the Scotland Committee and Wales Committee.

The Scotland Commissioner and Secretary of 
State for Scotland jointly hosted a roundtable 
for businesses in Scotland to discuss 
support for businesses through the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Scotland Commissioner also 
chaired our working group that is overseeing 
the development of the next ‘Is Britain Fairer?’ 
review. Scotland Committee members 
attended a number of our working groups and 
the Disability Advisory Committee.

A recruitment campaign for new Scotland 
Committee members ran online due to 
COVID-19 restrictions, from August to 
November 2020. The campaign successfully 
encouraged applications from groups 
who are underrepresented in public board 
positions and on our Scotland Committee.
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Scotland Committee meetings attendance 

Name Attendance / eligibility

Lesley Sawers (Chair) 5/5

Phil Arnold 5/5

Marsali Craig 5/5

David Crichton 5/5

Clare Macgillivray 4/4

Naomi Mcauliffe 4/4

Charlie McMillan 1/1

Lindsey Millen 1/1

Bernadette Monaghan 4/5

Rami Okasha 5/5

Tatora Mukushi 1/1

 Additional information about the 
Scotland Committee and its work is 
available on our website.
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Wales Committee 

The Wales Committee met formally four 
times during 2020–21. Due to COVID-19, 
these meetings took place remotely. 
In addition to the formal meetings, the 
Committee held four additional meetings and 
one informal meeting.

We await the UK Government’s appointment 
of a new Wales Commissioner, who will 
also assume the role as Chair of the Wales 
Committee. Dr Alison Parken chaired the 
Committee on an interim basis until August 
2020. Martyn Jones assumed the Interim 
Chair role from September 2020 onwards.

The Wales Committee exercises its powers 
as set out in the Equality Act 2006. It has 
the power to give advice to the Welsh 
Government about new laws or proposed 
changes to the law that affect only Wales. 
The Committee advises us on the impact of 
our work in Wales.

In 2020–21, the Wales Committee considered 
a range of issues including:

• the impact of COVID-19 in Wales

• the implementation of the socio-
economic duty

• safeguarding the equality and human 
rights framework

• our new stakeholder strategy, and 

• our role in public debates.

Committee members also successfully 
engaged with stakeholders on a number of 
issues including: 

• an online roundtable discussion, 
including the Older People’s 
Commissioner for Wales, to inform 
the development of our social care 
programme

• an online roundtable discussion with 
race equality stakeholders to inform the 
development of our race programme

• a series of events to mark 10 years of 
the Equality Act 2010 and to discuss the 
implications of the pandemic on equality 
and human rights, and

• a webinar on the new socio-economic 
duty coming into force in Wales
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Wales Committee meetings attendance  

Name Attendance / eligibility

Alison Parken (Interim Chair, April 2020 to August 2020) 5/5

Martyn Jones (Interim Chair, September 2020 to March 2021) 5/5

Rocio Cifuentes 5/5

Geraint Hopkins 5/5

Grace Quantock 4/5

Mark Sykes 5/5

Beth Thomas 1/2

Faith Walker 4/5

Nicola Williams 2/3

 Additional information about the Wales 
Committee and its work is available on 
our website.
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Advisory Committees 

The Board also has three advisory committees which do not have statutory or formal decision-
making powers. 

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and the People and Workspace Committees are part 
of our formal governance structure and are chaired by a Commissioner to provide assurance and 
advice to the Board and Executive Group.  

The Disability Advisory Committee, which replaced the statutory Disability Committee, is not part 
of the formal governance structure and is chaired by a member of the Committee to bring disability 
expertise to inform and advise the EHRC’s decision making across all its work.

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/about-commission-wales/wales-committee
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/about-commission-wales/wales-committee


ARAC meetings attendance  

Name Attendance / eligibility

Commissioners

Susan Johnson 4/4

Suzanne Baxter 4/4

Helen Mahy 4/4

Independent Members

Gill Eastwood 4/4

Charlotte Moar 4/4

Our auditors and internal audit representatives attend meetings.  
The Government Equalities Office is invited to attend meetings in an observer role.

 Additional information about the ARAC 
is available on our website.

Annual report and accounts 2020–21 38

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
(ARAC) was chaired by a Commissioner, 
Susan Johnson, and met four times during 
2020–21.

The ARAC supports the Board and Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) as Accounting Officer 
and forms part of our formal governance 
structure by providing appropriate 
independent advice and constructive 
challenge to give assurance that governance 
arrangements and control frameworks are in 
place and are operating effectively.

In 2020–21, the Committee considered a 
range of issues including:

• our finance and risk reports

• the internal auditors' reports and 
recommendations

• the NAO’s annual audit opinion 

• risks identified by the People and 
Workspace Committee 

• strategic and delivery risks 

• cyber security and disaster recovery, and

• a review of accounting policies for annual 
reporting.

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/corporate-reporting/board-meetings/advisory-committees


People and Workspace Committee

The People and Workspace Committee 
(P&WC) (formerly titled the Human Resources 
and Remuneration Committee) is part of our 
formal governance structure and was chaired 
by the Deputy Chair, Caroline Waters, and met 
four times during 2020–21. 

The purpose of the Committee is to provide 
advice, support and challenge to officers, 
and assurance to the Board on people, 
infrastructure and remuneration matters 
affecting the employee lifecycle. Key areas of 
focus for the P&WC included: 

• our development as an ‘exemplar 
employer’, and the people policies, 
processes and initiatives that this covers

P&WC meetings attendance  

Name Attendance / eligibility

Commissioners

Caroline Waters 4/4

Pavita Cooper 3/4

Helen Mahy 4/4

Mark McLane 3/4

 Additional information about the P&WC 
is on our website. 

• inclusion, diversity and equality

• reward strategy and annual pay award 
(including strategies to close pay gaps)

• performance management

• talent management and succession 
planning

• employee engagement initiatives and 
outturns

• infrastructure strategies policies and 
services (ICT, locations and estates), and

• wellbeing and our culture.

The P&WC also provided oversight of strategic 
and operational people, infrastructure and 
information governance risks.
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Disability Advisory Committee

The Disability Advisory Committee (DAC) is 
not part of our formal governance structure 
but provides advice on our work that supports 
disabled people. The DAC was chaired by 
Dr Rachel Perkins during 2020–21. While it 
usually meets four times per year, it only met 
three times in 2020–21 because the May 
meeting was cancelled due to COVID-19.

At its meetings during the year, the Committee 
discussed a range of topics including:

• the implications of COVID-19 for disabled 
people and our COVID-19 response

DAC meetings attendance  

Name Attendance / eligibility

Rachel Perkins (Chair) 3/3

Sarah Coleman (Deputy Chair) 3/3

Simone Aspis 2/3

Marc Bush 1/3

Helen Chipchase 3/3

Miro Griffiths 2/3

Fazilet Hadi 3/3 

Anna Lawson 3/3

Lord Colin Low 1/3 

Liz Sayce 3/3

Michele Scattergood 3/3 

Nicholas Watson 3/3

Colin Young 1/3

 Further information about the members of the Disability Advisory Committee 
and its work is available on our website.

• the Right to Independent Living

• our response to the review of the Mental 
Health Act and subsequent White Paper

• business and strategic planning 
disability-related litigation, and

• advice and guidance on disability-related 
litigation.

In addition to providing information and advice 
to inform our disability-related work, at the 
request of our officers, the DAC has received 
presentations from and provided information 
and advice to the Cabinet Office Disability Unit 
on the National Disability Strategy.
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 Governance statement 
  Corporate governance report  

We are Britain’s national equality body and 
are recognised as an ‘A’ status National 
Human Rights Institution by the United 
Nations. We operate independently of 
government.

I was appointed as Temporary Acting 
Accounting Officer from 12 January 2021 to 
cover the absence of the Accounting Officer 
from this date. Following the resignation of 
the Accounting Officer, I have subsequently 
been appointed as Interim Accounting Officer 
with effect from 1 May 2021. I have been in 
post as Executive Director and subsequently 
as Acting Chief Executive and I have been a 
member of the Executive Leadership Team 
for the entirety of the reporting period. 

Having now attended both Board and ARAC 
meetings, I am content that there were no 
outstanding issues to note in the period 
before my appointment as Temporary Acting 
Accounting Officer.  

This Governance Statement, for which I as 
Interim Accounting Officer take responsibility, 
is designed to give a clear understanding 
of how the duties set out above have been 
carried out during 2020–21. It sets out our 
governance structure, internal controls and 
risk management processes.

The Equality and Human Rights 
Commission is a statutory non-
departmental public body established by 
the Equality Act 2006.
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Scope of responsibility

As Interim Accounting Officer I have 
responsibility for maintaining a sound system 
of internal control that supports the delivery 
of our policies, aims and objectives while 
safeguarding the public funds and our assets 
and for taking reasonable steps to prevent 
and detect fraud, in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned to me in ‘Managing 
Public Money’ and our framework document. 
In delivering this role, I am supported by the 
Executive Leadership Team, and by the Board 
of Commissioners.

Statement of Accounting Officer’s 
responsibilities

Under the Equality Act 2006, the Secretary 
of State, with the consent of HM Treasury, 
has directed the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission to prepare for each financial 
year a statement of accounts in the form 
and on the basis set out in the Accounts 
Direction.

The accounts are prepared on an accruals 
basis and must give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission and of its income and 
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position 
and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting 
Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual, and in particular to: 

• observe the Accounts Direction issued by 
the Secretary of State, with the consent 
of HM Treasury, including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, 
and apply suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis

• make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial 
statements

• prepare the financial statements on a 
going-concern basis, and 

• confirm that the Annual Report and 
Accounts is as a whole fair, balanced 
and understandable and take personal 
responsibility for the Annual Report and 
Accounts and the judgements required 
for determining that it is fair, balanced 
and understandable.

The Principal Accounting Officer of the 
Cabinet Office has designated the Interim 
Chief Executive as Interim Accounting 
Officer of the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission. The responsibilities of an 
Accounting Officer, including responsibility 
for the propriety and regularity of the public 
finances for which the Accounting Officer is 
answerable, for keeping proper records and for 
safeguarding the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission’s assets, are set out in ‘Managing 
Public Money’ published by the HM Treasury.
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Statement regarding disclosure of 
information to the auditors

As Interim Accounting Officer, I have taken all 
the steps that I ought to have taken to make 
myself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the National Audit Office 
are aware of that information. As far as I am 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the auditors are unaware.

Corporate governance structures

Our corporate governance structures and 
information on how we are required to report 
to Parliament are set out in the Equality Act 
2006. Our relationship with our sponsor 
department, the Cabinet Office is agreed 
through the Framework Document, which 
also contains details of my responsibilities as 
the Equality and Human Rights Commission’s 
Interim Accounting Officer.

Our Annual Report and Accounts is sent to 
our sponsor department which lays copies of 
it before Parliament. Copies of the report are 
also sent to the Scottish Parliament and the 
Senedd Cymru: Welsh Parliament.

Our governance structure 

Our governance structure provides 
independent control and oversight of our 
operations. Schedule 1 to the Equality Act 
2006 formally established our Board.

The Board provides:

• effective support and challenge in order 
to ensure good governance and internal 
control

• additional rigour and discipline in 
decision-making, and

• insight from the wider experience of 
non-executive members that informs our 
thinking.

Board of Commissioners

Details of the Commissioners who served as 
members of the Board during 2020–21 are on 
pages 57–59.

Commissioners are independent in character 
and judgement, and are required to disclose 
any relationship that could potentially 
affect their judgement when participating in 
Board decisions. We maintain a register of 
Commissioners’ interests and at the start 
of each Board meeting, Commissioners are 
reminded to keep the register up to date and 
to declare any interests in the agenda items 
for that meeting.

 Further information about our corporate 
governance structures is available on 
our website.

 The Commissioners’ register of 
interests is available on our website.
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Board performance and 
effectiveness

We reviewed the Board’s effectiveness in 
partnership with staff during 2020–21. The 
review considered the Board’s progress when 
compared with previous results and identified 
further action that could be taken to improve 
the effectiveness of the Board.

We produced a plan setting out actions to be 
taken to address the gaps identified in the 
review. These included actions to:

• strengthen the processes for measuring, 
understanding and reporting on impact

• improve processes for capturing, sharing 
and taking action on lessons learnt in 
order to improve performance, impact 
and internal decision-making

• review stakeholder engagement 
practices and support the continued 
progress of the organisation in 
unlocking the potential of its stakeholder 
relationships

• further improve diversity across the 
organisation, particularly at senior levels, 
and

• support better mapping and use of the 
time and skills of Commissioners and 
make the best use of Board and senior 
staff time, to help ensure that their input 
is targeted to where it can have the 
greatest impact. 

The Board is responsible for setting overall 
direction, policy and plans. The specific 
role, responsibilities and functions of the 
Board and its committees are set out in our 
Governance Manual prepared in line with 
the Cabinet Office ‘Code of Best Practice for 
Board Members of Public Bodies’ and the 
UK Government’s ‘Corporate Governance 
in Central Government Departments: Code 
of good practice’. Our Governance Manual, 
along with the Equality Act 2006 and our 
Framework Document, act as the Board’s 
terms of reference.

The Board’s composition departs from the 
Corporate Governance Code, which advises 
having ‘approximately equal numbers of 
ministers, senior civil servants, and non-
executives’. Our Board comprises a higher 
number of non-executives (Commissioners) 
in accordance with the Equality Act, which 
requires the Secretary of State to appoint a 
board of between 10 and 15 Commissioners. 
Members of the Board have a good balance 
of skills and experience to enable it to fulfil its 
responsibilities.

 The framework document (updated in 
November 2019) is on our website.

 The agreed minutes of recent Board 
meetings are on our website.

 Our governance manual is available on 
our website.
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The next Board performance and 
effectiveness review is scheduled for 2021–
22. This review will include independent, 
external, input and will present an 
opportunity to evaluate the performance and 
effectiveness of the Board in the context of 
the changed ways of working introduced in 
response to the impacts of COVID-19 and the 
recent appointment of the new Chairwoman 
and Commissioners.

The Board and its sub-committees receive a 
range of management information including 
financial, people and operational data which 
is used to monitor performance and support 
discussions and decisions. The Board and 
its sub-committees have confirmed that the 
quality of the information and data received is 
of sufficient quality to inform their decisions. 

Our leadership 

The role of senior management (Executive 
Directors) is to help the Chief Executive 
develop and implement strategy, provide 
leadership for staff, set work priorities, 
monitor performance and manage risk.

The following decision-making groups 
supported the Chief Executive during 2020–
21. These assisted the Chief Executive in the 
ongoing management of the organisation, its 
programmes, projects and regulatory activity. 
The groups and their remits were as follows. 

The Executive Leadership Team (ELT), 
chaired by the Chief Executive and includes 
the Executive Directors is responsible for:

• developing our strategic approach, 
including how we work in England, 
Scotland and Wales

• our relationships with key stakeholders 

• issues that are considered to have high 
reputational or operational risk, and

• leading the relationship with the Board 
and its committees.

The ELT was established in November 2020. 
It took on the functions of and replaced the 
Executive Group, which was disbanded in 
October 2020.

The Strategy and Delivery Board, 
co-chaired by the Director – Finance, 
Procurement, PEU and Governance, and the 
Director – Strategy and Evidence, consists 
of Directors and Senior Principals. The 
Strategy and Delivery Board is responsible 
for decisions on interventions and delivery 
strategies, tracking delivery, ensuring there is 
sufficient capacity to deliver within proposed 
timescales, monitoring impact and reviewing 
progress and resource.

The Strategy and Delivery Board took on the 
functions of the Delivery Group, which was 
disbanded in March 2020. These functions 
resided temporarily with the Executive Group 
prior to the Strategy and Delivery Board’s 
establishment in November 2020. 
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Personal data incidents 

Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, five 
data breaches were reported. All incidents 
were fully investigated and lessons learned 
wherever possible. We voluntarily notified 
the Information Commissioner’s Officer of 
one breach. The Information Commissioner’s 
Officer did not take any action.

 

Freedom of information requests 

During 2020–21, we received 199 requests 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
Of those requests, 99% received a response 
within the statutory deadline. Currently, 
16 requests are in progress or awaiting 
clarification and 23 were referred for internal 
review.

We recognise that there may be additional 
requests that have been submitted by post 
but have not been received due to our offices 
being closed due to COVID-19. A notice on 
our website directed people to make requests 
by email rather than post during this period. 
We were made aware of one that was sent 
by post in January 2021 and re-submitted 
by email in April 2021 after the completion 
of year-end reporting. It is possible that 
there may be other requests that will not be 
identified until we return to our offices.

Internal audit

Mazars LLP acted as our internal auditors 
during 2020–21. The internal audit plan is 
designed to provide independent assurance 
on our governance, risk management and 
internal controls. 

Audits are carried out in accordance with 
the guidance contained in the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards.

Areas reviewed as part of the 2020–21 plan 
included:

• contract management
• impact model
• conflicts of interest
• HR: talent management and succession 

planning
• core financial controls (financial planning)
• information governance, and

• service delivery model. 

The internal auditor reports on findings and 
makes recommendations to management, 
who agree action plans and timescales to 
implement recommendations made during 
the audit programme. The ARAC receives a 
regular report from the internal auditors on 
the outcomes of each review and receives 
a progress report from management which 
provides a summary of the status of the 
actions to implement recommendations.

Auditing of accounts

The National Audit Office carries out our 
external audit on behalf of the Comptroller 
and Auditor General.
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Internal whistleblowing 

Our whistleblowing policy has been in 
operation throughout the year and was 
refreshed in January 2021. The policy is 
available to all staff on our intranet and sets 
out the steps staff should take to raise their 
concerns about behaviours and practices at 
the Equality and Human Rights Commission. 
It is supported by detailed guidance on the 
procedures to follow when raising these 
concerns. No issues were raised under the 
internal whistleblowing arrangements during 
2020–21 (none in 2019–20). 

External whistleblowing 

The EHRC is a Prescribed Body4. Our role is 
to provide workers who are concerned that 
their employer is breaching equality and 
human rights law with a mechanism to make 
a disclosure to an independent body if they 
don’t feel able to disclose directly to their 
employer. 

We record every disclosure that we receive 
and the information disclosed is assessed 
to help us to decide whether to look more 
closely at an organisation’s compliance with 
equality and human rights law and to decide 
whether to take regulatory action.  

Further information on whistleblowing and 
how we deal with concerns reported to us is 
available on our website.

Donations 

We did not make any charitable or political 
donations in this year. A small amount of low-
value peripheral equipment that could not 
be reused within the EHRC was gifted to the 
employees who left the organisation. 

Complaints

We welcome comments and suggestions 
about our performance. All complaints received 
are taken seriously and feedback is used to help 
us develop and improve the way we work. We 
treat every expression of dissatisfaction that 
requires a response as a complaint.

In 2020–21, we received 36 new stage-one 
service complaints (compared with 25 in 
2019–20). Reasons for complaints mostly 
included dissatisfaction with a response 
received.

Those who feel that their complaint has not 
been resolved after it has been through both 
stages of our complaints procedure can 
refer the matter to the Parliamentary and 
Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO). Two 
complaints were referred in the period from 1 
April 2020 to 31 March 2021, neither of which 
were upheld. 

 Information about our complaints policy 
is on our website.
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Internal control

We have an established framework of 
financial procedures and controls. This 
framework is reviewed and tested, as part of 
the regular programme of work undertaken 
by our internal audit partners. 

As Interim Accounting Officer, I have 
responsibility for our financial affairs, subject 
to authority limits delegated to me by the 
Principal Accounting Officer. Our resource 
and capital budget is delegated to Executive 
Directors, who have authority to sub-delegate 
budget and the authority to make financial 
transactions to Directors and other budget 
holders under a delegation framework.

Decisions including procurement, capital 
expenditure and project implementation, are 
subject to business case approval, and will 
engage specialist staff for review in addition 
to Executive approval. We have a scheme 
of delegation that underpins the financial 
delegations contained within the framework 
document. The scheme enables managers 
and budget holders to make decisions and 
holds them accountable for the effective 
management of their delegated budget, 
decisions they make and the delivery of 
their work plan against agreed milestones. 
Budget holders are required to report on their 
performance to the monthly Strategy and 
Delivery Board. 

Performance information is subject to 
further scrutiny and review by the Board 
of Commissioners and by the ARAC which 
provides independent oversight.

The Board and our committees are provided 
with the information they require to enable 
them to function well. Strategic risks and 
issues considered by senior management 
are escalated to the Board, with agreed 
management action where appropriate.

Fraud 

We have a fraud policy which adheres to 
Cabinet Office guidance. This requires staff 
at all times to act honestly, with integrity, and 
to safeguard the public resources for which 
they are responsible at all times. All staff 
must adhere to our code of conduct and are 
required to complete mandatory Civil Service 
e-learning on this topic each year. 

There were no cases of fraud identified in 
2020–21 (none in 2019–20).

Conflicts of interest 

We have a ‘code of conduct’ that explains the 
requirement of staff to declare all interests 
including paid and unpaid external roles 
which may (or may be perceived to) conflict 
with their role in the EHRC and the actions 
that they need to take to excuse themselves 
from any activity where their interest may be 
perceived as influencing their judgement.
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The code also explains that it is the 
employee’s responsibility to keep their 
information up to date and accurate. 
Declarations returned are recorded, reviewed 
and assessed.

We have reviewed the declarations received 
during 2020–21 and are satisfied that no 
Senior Civil Servant (SCS) level employee of 
the EHRC holds an external role that presents 
a conflict of interest.

Risk management

Our risk management approach is based 
on devolved accountability: risks are owned 
by those best placed to manage them and 
risk owners are responsible for ensuring 
that sound risk management is in place 
within their area of responsibility. The Board 
sets the overall strategic direction on risk 
management.

We maintain an operational risk register 
which rates risks to delivery according to 
their likelihood and impact across all of 
our functions. The register collates all risks 
identified into a single document which 
is reviewed monthly by the Strategy and 
Delivery Board to ensure effective mitigations 
are in place. 

The Board has oversight of the strategic risk 
register, with the ARAC providing scrutiny 
of risks and mitigation plans. Our internal 
auditor regularly reviews and reports on risk 
management processes to provide assurance 
that these are operating effectively. 

Strategic risks in 2020–21

There were six principal risks in our risk 
register in 2020–21. The ARAC reviewed 
these risks regularly. A summary of these 
risks and our mitigating actions throughout 
the year is outlined below.

Lack of funding limits our ability to 
deliver our strategy 

The fiscal context that we operate in remains 
challenging. The impact of COVID-19 on the 
budget was significant with planned projects 
delayed and new priorities identified that 
require funding. 

We ensured continuous engagement with the 
Cabinet Office and our sponsorship team. We 
assessed our medium-term financial plans 
and value for money, and made the case 
for our role in the government’s agenda for 
levelling up the country, which will contribute 
to future Spending Review planning.

We lose powers or remit to less-suited 
bodies

This area of strategic risk became less 
prominent over the course of the year 
as our strategic context has changed. 
However, we continued to build constructive 
relationships and influence with government 
departments, Parliament, businesses and 
other stakeholders, and worked to make sure 
that our impact was visible.
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Our work does not have the impact we 
expected across our priority aims

The COVID-19 pandemic had a major impact 
on our strategic aims for the year as we 
pivoted to focus on the equality and human 
rights implications, and other planned work 
had to be paused or scaled back. To reduce 
the risk of this limiting our impact, we moved 
to a 90-day review process to evaluate where 
we were having impact and where we needed 
to change approach. Given how effective 
this has been in allowing flexibility and 
responsiveness, we have since embedded 
this process in our work.

We do not have the right people in 
place to deliver our strategic plan

The impact of COVID-19 and a prolonged 
lockdown with extended homeworking 
affected many staff. We focused a significant 
amount of internal resource over the year 
on health, wellbeing and supporting staff 
through the pandemic. This was positively 
received, as was our new inclusion 
programme, put in place as part of our work 
to be an exemplar employer. 

Our work does not meet the 
expectations of our stakeholders

We have a diverse range of stakeholders, 
including governments, Parliament, 
businesses, other regulators and the third 
sector who can have competing views 
on what we do. As an independent body, 
we must always make sure that a strong 
evidence base guides our decision-making 
and that we could demonstrate this in 
our work. During 2020–21 we refreshed 
our stakeholder approach to improve our 
engagement and communication with our 
diverse stakeholder groups.

We do not have the right infrastructure 
in place to deliver our strategic plan

The pandemic had a major impact on our 
infrastructure plans as our offices were 
closed and planned office relocations 
were delayed. However, our IT strategy and 
investment allowed us to respond well to 
the shift to homeworking with minimal 
disruption. Our infrastructure plans focused 
on ensuring we could start to safely transition 
to a future-proofed, hybrid working approach 
as the situation allows.
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Information management

Information governance and the protection 
of assets containing personal and sensitive 
data are a priority. 

In 2020–21 the Information Governance 
Steering Group met quarterly to maintain 
oversight of data protection, information 
security and records management, and 
improve practices. The Senior Information 
Risk Owner and Data Protection Officer 
reported regularly to the Executive Leadership 
Team and the ARAC respectively.

During 2020–21, we:

• invested in mandatory training for all 
employees alongside improved guidance 
and awareness

• held quarterly forums for Data 
Owners and Data Champions to share 
developments and good practice

• developed and updated our information 
asset registers 

• ensured data protection involvement in 
key projects, and

• updated policies and procedures, 
technical and organisational security 
controls, as well as retention and 
archiving practices.

Accounting Officer’s review of 
effectiveness assurance

As Interim Accounting Officer, I have 
responsibility and accountability for the 
Equality and Human Rights Commission, its 
management, the efficient use of public funds 
and stewardship of its assets. Additionally, 
I have responsibility for ensuring that the 
Equality and Human Rights Commission 
has in place systems of governance, risk 
management and internal control and for 
reviewing the effectiveness of these systems.

The system of internal controls reflects good 
practice, and is designed to identify and 
manage risk, rather than to eliminate all risk 
of failure. It can only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control supports 
the achievement of our policies, aims and 
objectives, while safeguarding the funds and 
assets of the organisation, in accordance 
with HM Treasury’s Managing Public Money. 

Annual report and accounts 2020 – 21 51



These controls have been in place throughout 
the year ended 31 March 2021 and up to 
the date of approval of the Annual Report 
and Accounts, and accord with Treasury 
guidance.

My review of the effectiveness of the system 
of internal control is informed by assurance 
received from Executive Directors and 
Directors (budget holders) throughout the 
year and on receipt of the annual assurance 
statement, from the reviews carried out by the 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and is 
further supported by the assurance received 
from internal and external audit opinions.

Assurance provided by delegated 
budget holders

Budgets and responsibility regarding 
spending decisions are delegated by the 
accounting officer to Executive Director who 
then further delegate to Directors. As part of 
this delegation process budget holders are 
required to confirm that they understand the 
terms of the delegation and their limits of 
authority and that they are aware of current 
guidelines and controls.

At the end of the financial year budget 
holders are required to complete an 
assurance statement that confirms that they 
have met all of their obligations or made me 
aware of any instances where controls have 
not been met in the following areas:

• management of financial resources

• managing staff performance

• risk identification and management, and

• audit arrangements.

Budget holders are also required to 
make me aware of any contingent 
liabilities or potential claims against the 
Commission that have not been disclosed 
elsewhere. I am assured that on review 
of the returns received that there is 
nothing of this nature that needs to be 
brought to the attention of the auditors.
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Assurance provided by the ARAC

The Chair of the ARAC has provided the 
following statement:

‘We have an effective Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee commensurate with 
the size and complexity of the Equality 
and Human Rights Commission which 
seeks to maintain and improve governance 
procedures. ARAC members possess a 
range of skills and experience which provide 
valuable insight and review.

The ARAC reviews reports received from 
management during the year and works 
with the executive to ensure that adequate 
controls remain in place. We are further 
assured by the reports received from the 
internal auditors.

The ARAC provides assurance to the Board 
on matters such as risk management, 
governance and internal control. It also 
engages with the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission’s internal and external auditors 
and reviews the internal audit plan. 

Based on our assessment of the above 
the ARAC is of the opinion that all control 
systems in place have performed adequately 
and	there	are	no	significant	issues	or	
weaknesses to be drawn to the attention of 
the	Interim	Accounting	Officer.’

Assurance provided by the annual 
internal audit opinion

Mazars, our internal auditors, provide an 
annual assurance statement based on the 
findings of their internal audit programme 
work. As Interim Accounting Officer I review 
these reports and the recommendations 
made and ensure that maintaining and 
improving effective governance remains a 
key priority for management and that any 
recommendations made by the internal 
auditors are acted upon.

Seven audits were undertaken this year and 
each was provided with a formal assurance 
level of ‘Adequate’.

Certain weaknesses and exceptions were 
highlighted by the audit work but there 
were no fundamental control weaknesses 
identified, and no fundamental findings 
from internal audits during the year. From 
the seven reports there were no Priority 1 
recommendations, a total of 17 Priority 26  
recommendations and six Priority 37 
recommendations were made. All have 
been discussed with and accepted by 
management and have been addressed or are 
in the process of being addressed. 

6 Priority 2 (significant) recommendations represent significant control weaknesses which 
expose the organisation to a moderate degree of unnecessary risk.

7 Priority 3 (Housekeeping) recommendations show areas where we have highlighted 
opportunities to implement a good or better practice, to improve efficiency or further 
reduce exposure to risk.
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Accounting Officer’s conclusion 

I have considered the evidence provided 
during the production and review of the 
Annual Governance Statement and the 
independent advice and assurance provided 
by the ARAC. I am therefore content that a 
good system of internal control which was 
robust and fit for purpose, including the 
maintenance of an appropriate structure 
for managing risk, was in place for the year 
ended 31 March 2021.

I conclude that we have satisfactory 
governance and risk management systems 
with effective plans to ensure continuous 
improvement.

I confirm that this Annual Report 
and Accounts is fair, balanced and 
understandable and as Interim Accounting 
Officer I take responsibility for the 
judgements made to ensure that it is fair, 
balanced and understandable.

Alastair	Pringle,	Interim	Accounting	Officer 
7 July 2021

This year, on the basis of their audit work the 
internal audit opinion on the framework of 
governance, risk management, and control 
within the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission was Moderate in its overall 
adequacy and effectiveness. (Moderate is 
defined by Mazars as ‘Some improvements 
are required to enhance the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the framework of 
governance, risk management and control’).
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This section provides details of the remuneration 
(including any non-cash remuneration) of 
Commissioners, independent members, the  
Chief Executive and the Executive Team.  
The content of the tables and fair-pay disclosures  
is subject to audit.

 Remuneration  
 and staff report 



The daily remuneration rate for the Chair, 
Deputy Chair and Commissioners is set by 
the Secretary of State and Commissioners 
are expected to work a number of days8 as 
prescribed in their letter of appointment. 
Any additional days worked in excess of 
those prescribed in appointment letters are 
approved by the Chair in advance. Fees are 
paid in 12 equal instalments across the year. 
Appointments are not pensionable.

Commissioners are expected to attend 
formal and informal meetings of the Board, 
to attend meetings with staff to support 
specific programmes of work, to represent 
the EHRC at external events and to attend 
training or developmental events as required.

Commissioners may be appointed as the 
Chair or member of a sub-committee of the 
Board. These appointments do not attract 
additional remuneration.

The EHRC reimburses costs incurred in 
travelling to meetings. The allowances are 
set out in the Commissioners’ fees and 
expenses guidelines and all claims are 
approved by the Corporate Governance team. 
HMRC guidelines class any travel to Board 
meetings as ‘commuting’, which is subject 
to tax and National Insurance, and the EHRC 
meets the resultant tax liability for these 
expenses.

 Remuneration of the Chair  
 and other Board Members 

  Remuneration and staff report  

Commissioners are appointed by the 
Secretary of State for Women and 
Equalities for a period of between two 
and five years and may be reappointed 
for an additional period. 
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days per annum (total fees £50,000 per annum). The Deputy Chair is remunerated at a rate 
of £450 per day and is expected to work for up to 52 days per annum (total fees £23,400 
per annum). Commissioners are remunerated at a rate of £400 per day and are expected to 
work for up to 25 days per annum (total fees £10,000 per annum).



2020–21 
£’000

2019–20 
£’000

Board members’ fees (tables b, c and d) 157 150

Board members’ employer’s National Insurance contributions 
(NICs) (tables b, c and d)

9 11

Statutory and advisory committee members’ fees (tables e and f) 94 97

Total 260 258

a) Chair and Commissioners’ pay summary  
(the information in tables b, c and d is subject to audit)

2020–21 
£

2019–20 
£

David Isaac (1 April 2020 to 9 August 2020)

Chair’s fees 17,900  
FYE9 50,000

50,000

Employer’s NICs 1,965 5,709

Expenses - 64

Baroness Kishwer Falkner (1 December 2020 to 31 March 2021)

Chair’s fees 16,667 
FYE9 50,000

-

Employer’s NICs 1,896 -

Expenses - -

Total for year (excluding expenses) 38,428 55,709

The table above is a summary of emoluments disbursed. Further detail is shown in the tables below.
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b) Chair

David Isaac’s term of office ended on 9 August 2020.

Baroness Kishwer Falkner was appointed as Chairwoman effective from 1 December 2020 for a 
period of four years.

From 10 August to 30 November, Caroline Waters acted as Chair and received an additional 
allowance included in table c below.

9 FYE – Full Year Equivalent.



Fees £ Expenses £

 2020–21 2019–20 2020–21 2019–20

Suzanne Baxter  

Appointed 27 April 2018 for an initial  
four-year term

14,00011 10,000 - 1,500

Jessica Butcher 
Appointed 1 December 2020 for an initial  
four-year term

3,33312 - - -

Pavita Cooper 
Appointed 27 April 2018 for an initial  
four-year term

10,000 10,000 - -

c) Deputy Chair

Caroline Waters served as Deputy Chair and was reappointed for a five-year term from  
15 January 2018.

From 10 August to 30 November, Susan Johnson acted as Deputy Chair and received an 
additional allowance included in table d on page 59.

d) Fees and expenses for  
each Commissioner 

2020–21 
£

2019–20 
£

Deputy Chair’s fees10 31,205 23,400

Employer’s NICs 3,094 2,325

Total 34,299 25,725

Expenses - 3,327

10 2020–21 fees include an additional allowance while acting as Chair during the period 8 
August to 30 November 2020. For the purposes of the calculation, fees are annualised by 
dividing by 365 days; Caroline received fees at the Deputy Chair’s daily rate of £64.20 for 
250 days (£16,050) and at the Interim Chair’s rate of £131.79 for 115 days (£15,155).

11 Suzanne Baxter received additional fees of £4,000 for (10 days) work completed on an 
investigation during the year.

12 FYE (Full Year Equivalent) = £10,000.
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Fees £ Expenses £

 2020–21 2019–20 2020–21 2019–20

David Goodhart  
Appointed 1 December 2020 for an initial four-
year term

3,33312 - - -

Alasdair Henderson 
Appointed 27 April 2018 for an initial four-year term

10,000 10,000 - -

Susan Johnson 

Re-appointed 7 January 2019 for a three-year term 
13,67913 10,000 151 2,637

Mark McLane 
Appointed 27 April 2018 for an initial four-year term

10,000 10,000 - -

Helen Mahy 
Appointed 27 April 2018 for an initial four-year term

10,000 10,000 - 784

Lord Bernard Ribeiro  
Appointed 1 December 2020 for a one-year term 3,33312 - - -

Lesley Sawers 
Reappointed 29 March 2021 for a four-year term

10,000 10,000 72 2,208

Su-Mei Thompson 
Appointed 1 December 2020 for an initial four-
year term

3,33312 - - -

June Milligan 
Resigned 31 May 2019 - 1,66712 - 72

Swaran Singh  
Resigned 30 September 2019

- 5,00012 - 757

Subtotal 91,012 76,667 223 7,957

Employer’s NICs paid on fees and expenses 2,479 2,606 - -

Total 93,491 79,273 223 7,957

d) Fees and expenses for  
each Commissioner (continued) 

12 FYE (Full Year Equivalent) = £10,000.
13 2020–21 fees include an additional allowance while acting as Deputy Chair during the period 

8 August to 30 November 2020. For the purposes of the calculation, fees are annualised by 
dividing by 365 days; Susan received fees at the Commissioner daily rate of £27.43 for 250 
days (£6,858) and at the interim Deputy Chair’s rate of £59.31 for 115 days (£6,821).
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e) Committee fees and expenses (summary) 

Fees £ Expenses £

 2020–21 2019–20 2020–21 2019–20

Disability Advisory Committee (DAC) 39,393 42,000 - 203

The DAC consisted of 13 members who were paid fees of £3,000 each for the whole reporting 
period. One member resigned on 18 May 2020 and received fees of £393 for the period they 
were in post. 

Scotland Committee 22,500 24,500 92 2,091

The Scotland Committee consisted of five members who were paid fees of £3,000 each for 
the whole reporting period. In addition, two members’ terms ended on 31 December 2020 
and they received fees of £2,250 each for the period they were in post. Four new members 
were appointed on 1 January 2021 and they received fees of £750 each until the end of the 
reporting period.

Wales Committee 28,371 27,000 - 2,190

The Wales Committee consisted of seven members who were paid fees of £3,000 each 
for the whole reporting period. Two additional members were appointed in July 2020 and 
received fees of £1,500 each.

Additionally two members received additional allowances authorised by the Chair of the 
board for acting as the Chair of the Wales Committee and carrying out additional duties due 
to the absence of a Wales Commissioner – these totalled £4,371.

Total 90,264 93,500 92 4,484

Employer’s NICs paid 161 169 - -

Committee members are remunerated at a rate of £250 per day and are expected to work for 12 
days per annum. (Total fees £3,000 per annum).  Members are expected to attend committee 
meetings, to meet with EHRC staff to support programme or projects and to represent the EHRC 
at external events.
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 Pay and pension arrangements 
  Remuneration and staff report  

Remuneration policy

The Equality Act 2006 details our authority 
to remunerate employees. The People and 
Workspace Committee (P&WC) reviews 
the annual reward package of senior 
management.

The senior managers comprise the Chief 
Executive and the Executive Directors. 

The following section contains details of the 
remuneration and pension interests of the 
senior managers.

• All permanently employed Executive 
Directors have employment contracts 
with a three-month notice period; for 
the Chief Executive, a six-month notice 
period is required.

• There are no elements of the 
remuneration package that are not cash.
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Fees £ Expenses £

 2020–21 2019–20 2020–21 2019–20

Charlotte Moar  
Appointed 1 May 2019 for an initial two-
year term14

2,000 1,833 - 288

Gill Eastwood  
Appointed 1 May 2019 for an initial two-
year term14

2,000 1,833 - 154

Total 4,000 3,666 - 442

f) Fees and expenses for Audit and Risk Assurance Committee  
independent members

14 The Board agreed to extend the ARAC independent members’ terms for an additional two 
years at its September 2020 meeting. 



Salary and pension entitlements 
(this information is subject to audit)

The following tables provide details of the 
salary, pension entitlements and value of any 
taxable benefits in kind of our most senior 
officers for the period ended 31 March 2021.

Salary

Salary includes gross salary, performance 
pay or bonuses, overtime, reserved rights to 
London weighting or London allowances, 
recruitment and retention allowances and any 
other allowance to the extent that it is subject 
to UK taxation.

Non-consolidated award (bonus)

Bonuses paid are based on performance 
levels attained and are paid as part of the 
appraisal process. The bonuses paid in 
2020–21 related to performance in 2019–20 
and the comparative bonuses reported for 
2019–20 related to performance in 2018–19.  

Benefits	in	kind	

The monetary value of benefits in kind 
covers any benefits provided and treated 
by HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable 
emolument. No benefits in kind were paid in 
2020–21 (nil in 2019–20).
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Single total 
figure	of	
remuneration

Salary (bands 
of £5,000)

Bonus

(bands of 
£5,000)

Benefits	in	
kind 

(rounded 
to nearest 

£100)

Notional 
pension 

benefits15 

(to the 
nearest 
£1,000)

 Total

(inclusive 
of notional 

pension 
benefits	

-bands of 
£5,000)

Rebecca Hilsenrath Chief Executive

2020–21
95–10016  

FYE 120–125
0–5 Nil 39 135–140  

2019–20 120–125 0–5 Nil 48 170–175

15 Cabinet Office guidance requires the inclusion of a column for pension benefits and a 
‘total’ column. The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the 
real increase in pension multiplied by 20) plus (the real increase in any lump sum) less 
(the contributions made by the individual). The real increases exclude increases due to 
inflation or any increase or decreases due to a transfer of pension rights. The ‘total’ column 
includes the value of the pension benefits. This figure is notional and does not represent 
remuneration received directly by individuals. 

16 From the period 12 January to 31 March Rebecca Hilsenrath received basic salary of 
£25–£30k. Rebecca resigned from the EHRC on 31 March 2021 and received contractual 
pay in lieu of notice and payment in lieu of untaken leave of £45–£50k.



Single total 
figure	of	
remuneration

Salary (bands  
of £5,000)

Bonus

(bands of 
£5,000)

Benefits	in	
kind 

(rounded 
to nearest 

£100)

Notional 
pension 

benefits15 

(to the 
nearest 
£1,000)

 Total

(inclusive 
of notional 

pension 
benefits	

-bands of 
£5,000)

Alastair Pringle Executive Director Scotland, and Corporate Delivery and Acting Chief Executive 
from 12 January 202117

2020–21

100–105

FYE  
 to 11 January: 

95–100;  
from 12 January: 

120–125

0-5 Nil 45 150–155  

2019–20 95–100 0-5 Nil 35 125–130

Melanie Field Executive Director – Wales, Corporate Strategy and Policy

2020–21 95–100 0–5 Nil 50 145–150

2019–20 95–100 0–5 Nil 32 125–130

Ben Wilson Executive Director – England, Corporate Improvement and Impact18

2020–21 - - - - -

2019–20
80–85 

FYE 95-100
0–5 Nil 31 110–115

17 Rebecca Hilsenrath was absent from work from 12 January 2021 until the end of the 
reporting period. From 12 January Alastair Pringle was appointed as acting Chief Executive 
and received remuneration in line with the permanent CEO from this date until the end of 
the reporting period. Rebecca resigned from the post of CEO on 31 March 2021.

18 Ben Wilson resigned from the post of Executive Director on 3 February 2020 and left the 
Civil Service (annual salary £95,000 to £100,000); no payments were made during the 
current reporting period.
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19 Cath Denholm was appointed as Executive Director (England, Corporate Improvement and 
Impact) from 1 June 2020. (Annual salary £95,000 to £100,000).

20 Malcolm Cornberg was appointed to the post of Interim Executive Director Corporate 
services on 9 January 2020; this temporary appointment in not pensionable and does not 
include any bonus. The total annual remuneration has been calculated as being in the 
range £160,000–£165,000; the figure quoted in the table above represents payment made 
between 1 April and 5 June 2020.

Single total  
figure	of	
remuneration

Salary (bands 
of £5,000)

Bonus

(bands of 
£5,000)

Benefits	in	
kind 

(rounded 
to nearest 

£100)

Notional 
pension 

benefits15 

(to the 
nearest 
£1,000)

 Total

(inclusive 
of notional 

pension 
benefits	

-bands of 
£5,000)

Cath Denholm Executive Director – England, Corporate Improvement and Impact19

2020–21
80–85 

FYE 95–100
- Nil 31 110–115 

2019–20 - - - - -

Malcolm Cornberg Interim Executive Director Corporate Services20

2020–21
25–30 

FYE 160–165
- - - 25–30

2019–20
30–35 

FYE 160–165
- - - 30–35
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Pay multiples (this information is 
subject to audit)

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the 
relationship between the remuneration of 
the highest-paid director in their organisation 
and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce.

Full-time equivalent (FTE) is defined as actual 
hours worked as a proportion of a full working 
week (36 hours).

For the purposes of calculating the pay ratio, 
we have estimated the annual remuneration 
paid to interim staff, as this information is 
not available. We based the calculation of the 
estimate on 222 days at the interim’s agency 
day rate (excluding VAT) less 30% to cover 
agency fees and employer’s NICs.



The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in the EHRC in the financial year 
2020–21 was £160,000 to £165,000 (2019–20, £160,000 to £165,000). This was 4.17 times 
(2019–20, 4.23 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £38,991 
(2019–20, £38,403). In 2020–21, no21 (2019–20, none) employee received remuneration in 
excess of the highest-paid director.

The increase in the median remuneration and the reduction in the ratio are the outcome 
of the annual pay award and a change in our staff grade mix due to a  number of 
appointments in 2020–21 being made in higher salary bands.  

The ratio in 2020–21 is inflated due to the engagement of an Interim Executive Director 
of Corporate Services during the first quarter of 2020–21; excluding this post, the ratio 
calculated using the mid-point of the highest-paid permanent director’s band (£122,500) 
would have been 3.14 (3.19 in 2019–20).

2020–21 2019–20

Banded remuneration of the highest-paid 
director

£160,000–165,000 £160,000–165,000

Median total remuneration £38,991 £38,403

Ratio 4.17 4.23

Range of banded remuneration  
for employees 

£20,000–25,000 to 
£160,000–165,000

£15,000–20,000 to 
£160,000–165,000 
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21  Malcolm Cornberg was appointed as Interim Executive Director of Corporate services from 
9 January 2020 until 5 June 2020, working four days per week. During the period 1 April to 
5 June, 39 days were worked at a total cost (including VAT, employers NIC and agency fees) 
of £49,000. By removing VAT at 20% and other costs (which are estimated at 30% of the 
daily rate charged) we estimate actual remuneration of £29,000 for the period.



Pension	benefits Accrued 
pension at 

pension age 
at 31 March 

2021 and 
related lump 

sum

Real increase 
in pension 

and related 
lump sum

CETV at 31 
March 2021

CETV at 31 
March 2020

 Real 
increase 

in CETV as 
funded by 
employer

(Bands of 
£5,000)

(Bands of 
£2,500)

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rebecca Hilsenrath Chief Executive

15–20  0–2.5  294 260 23

Lump sum - -

Alastair Pringle Executive Director – Legal, Compliance and Scotland, Acting Chief Executive

40–45  2.5–5 553 502 26

Lump sum - -

Melanie Field Executive Director – Wales Corporate Strategy and Policy

40–45 2.5–5  909 841 37

Lump sum 105–110 0–2.5 

Cath Denholm Executive Director – England, Corporate Improvement and Impact

0–5  0–2.5  22 - 17

Lump sum - -
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Civil Service pensions

Pension benefits are provided through the 
Civil Service pension arrangements. From 
1 April 2015 a new pension scheme for civil 
servants was introduced – the Civil Servants 
and Others Pension Scheme or alpha, which 
provides benefits on a career average basis 
with a normal pension age equal to the 
member’s State Pension Age (or 65 if higher). 
From that date all newly appointed civil 
servants and the majority of those already 
in service joined alpha. Prior to that date, 
civil servants participated in the Principal 
Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS). The 
PCSPS has four sections: three providing 
benefits on a final salary basis (classic, 
premium or classic plus) with a normal 
pension age of 60; and one providing benefits 
on a whole career basis (nuvos) with a normal 
pension age of 65.

These statutory arrangements are unfunded 
with the cost of benefits met by monies voted 
by Parliament each year. Pensions payable 
under classic, premium, classic plus, nuvos 
and alpha are increased annually in line 
with Pensions Increase legislation. Existing 
members of the PCSPS who were within 10 
years of their normal pension age on 1 April 
2012 remained in the PCSPS after 1 April 
2015. Those who were between 10 years and 
13 years and 5 months from their normal 
pension age on 1 April 2012 switch into 
alpha sometime between 1 June 2015 and 1 
February 2022. 

Because the Government plans to remove 
discrimination identified by the courts in the 
way that the 2015 pension reforms were 
introduced for some members, it is expected 
that, in due course, eligible members with 
relevant service between 1 April 2015 and 
31 March 2022 may be entitled to different 
pension benefits in relation to that period 
(and this may affect the Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Values shown in this report – see 
below). 

All members who switch to alpha have their 
PCSPS benefits ‘banked’, with those with 
earlier benefits in one of the final salary 
sections of the PCSPS having those benefits 
based on their final salary when they leave 
alpha. (The pension figures quoted for 
officials show pension earned in PCSPS or 
alpha – as appropriate. Where the official 
has benefits in both the PCSPS and alpha 
the figure quoted is the combined value of 
their benefits in the two schemes.) Members 
joining from October 2002 may opt for either 
the appropriate defined benefit arrangement 
or a defined contribution (money purchase) 
pension with an employer contribution 
(partnership pension account).
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Employee contributions are salary-related and 
range between 4.6% and 8.05% for members 
of classic, premium, classic plus, nuvos 
and alpha. Benefits in classic accrue at the 
rate of 1/80th of final pensionable earnings 
for each year of service. In addition, a lump 
sum equivalent to three years initial pension 
is payable on retirement. For premium, 
benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of final 
pensionable earnings for each year of service. 
Unlike classic, there is no automatic lump 
sum. Classic plus is essentially a hybrid with 
benefits for service before 1 October 2002 
calculated broadly as per classic and benefits 
for service from October 2002 worked out as 
in premium. In nuvos a member builds up a 
pension based on his pensionable earnings 
during their period of scheme membership. 
At the end of the scheme year (31 March) the 
member’s earned pension account is credited 
with 2.3% of their pensionable earnings in 
that scheme year and the accrued pension 
is uprated in line with Pensions Increase 
legislation. Benefits in alpha build up in a 
similar way to nuvos, except that the accrual 
rate in 2.32%. In all cases members may opt 
to give up (commute) pension for a lump sum 
up to the limits set by the Finance Act 2004.

The partnership pension account is an 
occupational defined contribution pension 
arrangement which is part of the Legal & 
General Mastertrust. The employer makes a 
basic contribution of between 8% and 14.75% 
(depending on the age of the member). 
The employee does not have to contribute, 
but where they do make contributions, the 
employer will match these up to a limit of 
3% of pensionable salary (in addition to the 
employer’s basic contribution). Employers 
also contribute a further 0.5% of pensionable 
salary to cover the cost of centrally-provided 
risk benefit cover (death in service and ill 
health retirement).

The accrued pension quoted is the pension 
the member is entitled to receive when they 
reach pension age, or immediately on ceasing 
to be an active member of the scheme if they 
are already at or over pension age. Pension 
age is 60 for members of classic, premium 
and classic plus, 65 for members of nuvos, 
and the higher of 65 or State Pension Age 
for members of alpha. (The pension figures 
quoted for officials show pension earned in 
PCSPS or alpha – as appropriate. Where the 
official has benefits in both the PCSPS and 
alpha the figure quoted is the combined value 
of their benefits in the two schemes, but note 
that part of that pension may be payable from 
different ages.)

 Further details about pension 
arrangements are on the Civil Service 
Pension Scheme website.
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https://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/
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The cash equivalent transfer value

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is 
the actuarially assessed capitalised value 
of the pension scheme benefits accrued by 
a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from the scheme. A CETV 
is a payment made by a pension scheme 
or arrangement to secure pension benefits 
in another pension scheme or arrangement 
when the member leaves a scheme and 
chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in 
their former scheme. The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the 
individual has accrued as a consequence 
of their total membership of the pension 
scheme, not just their service in a senior 
capacity to which disclosure applies. 

The figures include the value of any pension 
benefit in another scheme or arrangement 
which the member has transferred to 
the Civil Service pension arrangements. 
They also include any additional pension 
benefit accrued to the member as a result 
of their buying additional pension benefits 
at their own cost. CETVs are worked out in 
accordance with The Occupational Pension 
Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 and do not take account of 
any actual or potential reduction to benefits 
resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which 
may be due when pension benefits are taken.
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Tax arrangements of public sector appointees 

In accordance with HM Treasury guidance on disclosure, the following tables set out the 
number of interim staff and the assurances given about tax status.

All off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day and lasting for 
longer than six months 

Less than one year at the time of reporting 2

Between one and two years at the time of reporting 0

Between two and three years at the time of reporting 0

Between three and four years at the time of reporting 0

Four years or more at the time of reporting 0

Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2021 2

We confirm that all existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point 
been subject to a risk-based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the 
individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been 
sought and received.
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The real increase in the value of the 
CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV that 
is funded by the employer. It does not 
include the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension scheme 
or arrangement) and uses common market 
valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period.

Civil Service and other 
compensation schemes: exit 
packages (this information is 
subject to audit)

There were no exits under any compensation 
scheme in 2020–21 (2019–20: none). 
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All off-payroll appointments (agency workers) are engaged via PAYE terms through their 
agencies so the engagements are outside of IR35.

All off-payroll appointments engaged at any point during the year ended 31 March 2021 and 
earning at least £245 per day

In-scope of IR35 5

Out-of-scope of IR35 0

Engagements reassessed for compliance or assurance 
purposes 

0

Engagements that changed IR35 status following review 0

Number of off-payroll workers engaged during the year ended 
31 March 2021 

5
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Off-payroll	engagements	of	Board	members	or	senior	officials	with	significant	financial	
responsibility, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 

Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members or 
senior officials with significant financial responsibility, during 
the financial year.

1

Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll who 
have been deemed ‘Board members or senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility’, during the financial 
year. This figure includes both on payroll and off-payroll 
engagements.

16



2020–21

 Female Male Total

Directors 4 5 9

Other employees 107 68 175

Other employees (short-term workers) 8 5 13

Directors (seconded / loans inwards) 2 1 3

Total 121 79 200

Interims and support workers 12 5 17

Total 133 84 217

Other employees (seconded / loans outwards) 5 1 6

Directors (seconded / loans outward) - 1 1

 
Staff numbers

The number of staff we employed at 31 March 
is as follows:

 Staff report 
  Remuneration and staff report  

Staff numbers and related cost 
(average staff numbers and staff costs 
are subject to audit)
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2020–21 2019–20

Permanently employed staff 183 181

Other

Short-term contract staff 9 9

Inward secondments 3 3 

Agency staff (contracted staff) 4 6

Total 199 199

The average number of FTE employees engaged during the year 2020–21 was 199 (199 
during 2019–20), including seconded, loan or agency staff.

As at 31 March 2021, 200 individuals were directly employed by the EHRC on a permanent or 
fixed-term basis (this was 201 as at 31 March 2020). We also engaged a number of interim 
staff and support workers as shown above.

Seven employees were temporarily transferred out of the EHRC, one seconded and six loaned 
(where they transferred onto the other department’s payroll) out of the EHRC at 31 March 
2021; all salary costs are funded by the receiving organisation.

The average number of FTE employees in post during the year is detailed in the following table:



22 Untaken annual leave represents the movement in the accrual based on the calculated cost 
of leave not taken at 31 March 2021; the increase is due to the agreement to allow staff to 
carry over 15 days due to the impact of the pandemic; staff are normally permitted to carry 
over 10 days untaken leave.

23 Represents outward secondments during the reporting period where the employee remains 
on our payroll but salary costs are fully recovered.

2020–21 2019–20

£’000

Permanently 
employed 

staff

£’000

Others 
(agency  

and FTC)

£’000

Total

£’000

Wages and salaries 8,288 527 8,815 8,221 

Social security costs 915 56 971 902 

Apprenticeship levy 30 - 30 27

Pension costs 2,291 141 2,432 2,245 

Inward secondments - 160 160 152

Untaken annual leave22 108 - 108 (8)

Total staff costs 11,632 884 12,516 11,539 

Recoveries in respect of 
(outward) secondments23 (181) - (181) (149)

Total staff costs  
(less amount recovered) 11,451 884 12,335 11,390

Interim costs - 271 271 500

Sub-total 11,451 1,155 12,606 11,890 

Staff exit packages - - - (37)

Total 11,451 1,155 12,606 11,853 

Staff costs
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Facility time

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirement) Regulations 2017 that came into 
force on 1 April 2017 require us to publish information relating to the number of hours spent 
on facility time by employees who are relevant union officials during the relevant period.

Relevant	union	officials 2020–21

Number of employees who were relevant union 
officials during the relevant period

10

FTE employee number 9.42

Paid trade union activities %

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a 
percentage of total paid facility time hours 100

Percentage of time spent on facility time

Percentage of time  0%
1% – 
50%

51% – 
99%

100%

Number of employees 0 10 0 0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

Total cost of facility time £’000  5

Total pay bill (staff) £’000 11,451

% 0.04



Expenditure on consultancy

There was no consultancy spend during 
2020–21. This was nil in 2019–20.

People policies

We have comprehensive HR policies and 
procedures that encompass the entire 
employee life cycle. 

We have systems in place to ensure fairness 
in recruitment for disabled people and other 
under-represented groups. We anonymise 
applications for recruiting panels, have a 
guaranteed interview scheme where we invite 
applicants to interview when they meet the 
minimum criteria, and we make reasonable 
adjustments when requested at all stages of 
the process.

All of our policies and procedures have 
integrated support for disabled employees 
in order for us to retain and develop all of our 
people. All employees are offered full support 
to remain in work through our policies for 
flexible working, annual leave and special or 
other leave.

Employees have access to a comprehensive 
employee assistance programme and are 
offered full support whenever required, 
including independent and confidential 
occupational health assessments. 
Employees have access to internal 
resources such as mental health first 
aiders. When reasonable adjustments 
are requested, they are considered and 
implemented wherever possible.

We recognise and work in partnership with 
the PCS and Unison trade unions. We operate 
a formal Health and Safety Committee that 
meets regularly with both management and 
trade union representatives. 

All staff have access to a range of learning 
and development resources and agree 
personal development objectives with 
their line managers. For development and 
progression, we offer opportunities to apply 
to government commissioned positive action 
programmes to employees who fall into 
eligible categories, as well as a commitment 
to make reasonable adjustments for disabled 
employees.
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Pensions

The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme 
(PCSPS) is an unfunded multi-employer 
defined benefit scheme in which we are 
unable to identify our share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities. A full actuarial valuation 
was carried out as at 31 March 2016. Details 
are on the Civil Service Pensions website. 

In 2020–21, employers’ contributions of 
£2,426,143 were payable to the PCSPS 
(2019–20: £2,237,515) at one of four rates in 
the range 26.6% to 30.3% (2019–20: 26.6% to 
30.3%) of pensionable pay, based on salary 
bands. The scheme actuary reviews employer 
contributions every four years following a full 
scheme valuation and the salary bands and 
contribution rates were revised for 2020–21 
as shown above. The contribution rates 
reflect benefits as they are accrued, not when 
the costs are actually incurred, and reflect 
past experience of the scheme. 

Employees can opt to open a partnership 
pension account, a stakeholder pension 
with an employer contribution. Employer’s 
contributions of £6,042 (2019–20: £7,164) 
were paid to one or more of a panel of 
appointed stakeholder pension providers. 

Employer contributions are age-related and 
range from 8.0% to 14.75% (2019–20: 8.00% 
to 14.75%) of pensionable pay. Employers 
also match employee contributions up to 
3% of pensionable pay. In addition, employer 
contributions of £183 (0.5%; 2019–20: £221, 
0.5%) of pensionable pay, were payable 
to the PCSPS to cover the cost of the 
future provision of lump sum benefits on 
death in service and ill-health retirement of 
these employees. Contributions due to the 
partnership pension providers at the reporting 
period date were nil (nil in 2019–20). 
Contributions prepaid at that date were nil (nil 
in 2019–20). 

There were no early retirements on ill-health 
grounds (nil in 2019–20).

https://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/about-us/resource-accounts/


This section summarises the key parliamentary 
accountability statements within the annual report 
and accounts and contains the certificate and 
report of the Comptroller and Auditor General.

 Parliamentary accountability 
 and audit report 



 Regularity of expenditure (this information  
 has been subject to audit) 

  Parliamentary accountability and audit report  

Losses and special payments:  
HM Treasury’s publication, ‘Managing Public Money’ and the Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) require a statement showing losses and special payments by value and by type to 
be shown where they exceed £300,000 in total, and those individually that exceed £300,000.  
There were no losses or special payments in 2020–21 that require disclosure in the Annual 
Report and Accounts (none in 2019–20).

Gifts:  
There were no gifts made in 2020–21 (none in 2019–20). 

Remote contingent liabilities:  
There are no contingent liabilities to be disclosed under the parliamentary reporting 
requirements.

Long-term expenditure trends:  
A summary of current and prior year performance is included within the performance 
section of this report.

Fees and charges:  
The EHRC does not have the ability to raise income through the levy of fees or charges.

Accountability report signed by:

Alastair Pringle 
Interim Accounting Officer 

7 July 2021
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 The certificate and report of the comptroller  
 and auditor general to the Houses of  
 Parliament 

  Parliamentary accountability and audit report  

Opinion on financial statements 

I certify that I have audited the financial 
statements of the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission for the year ended 31 
March 2021 under the Equality Act 2006. The 
financial statements comprise: Statements 
of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Financial 
Position, Cash Flows, Changes in Taxpayers’ 
Equity; and the related notes, including 
the significant accounting policies. These 
financial statements have been prepared 
under the accounting policies set out within 
them. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and International Accounting 
Standards as interpreted by HM Treasury’s 
Government Financial Reporting Manual.

I have also audited the information in the 
Accountability Report that is described in that 
report as having been audited.

In my opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state 
of the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission’s affairs as at 31 March 
2021 and of the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission’s net expenditure for 
the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Equality Act 2006 
and Secretary of State directions issued 
thereunder.

Opinion on regularity 

In my opinion, in all material respects, the 
income and expenditure recorded in the 
financial statements have been applied 
to the purposes intended by Parliament 
and the financial transactions recorded in 
the financial statements conform to the 
authorities which govern them.
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Basis of opinions

I conducted my audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) 
(UK), applicable law and Practice Note 10 
‘Audit of Financial Statements of Public 
Sector Entities in the United Kingdom’. 
My responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of my certificate.

Those standards require me and my staff to 
comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s 
Revised Ethical Standard 2019. I have also 
elected to apply the ethical standards relevant 
to listed entities. I am independent of the 
Equalities and Human Rights Commission 
in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to my audit of the financial 
statements in the UK. My staff and I have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion.

Conclusions relating to going 
concern 

The Equality and Human Rights 
Commission’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work I have performed, I have 
not identified any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission 's ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least twelve 
months from when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.

My responsibilities and the responsibilities 
of the Commission and the Accounting 
Officer with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this 
certificate.

The going concern basis of accounting 
for the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission is adopted in consideration 
of the requirements set out in International 
Accounting Standards as interpreted by HM 
Treasury’s Government Financial Reporting 
Manual, which require entities to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements 
where it anticipated that the services which 
they provide will continue into the future.

Other information 

The other information comprises information 
included in the annual report, but does 
not include the parts of the Accountability 
Report described in that report as having 
been audited, the financial statements 
and my auditor’s certificate thereon. The 
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Commission and the Accounting Officer 
are responsible for the other information. 
My opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in my certificate, I do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In 
connection with my audit of the financial 
statements, my responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or my knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If I identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, I am required to determine 
whether this gives rise to a material 
misstatement in the financial statements 
themselves. If, based on the work I have 
performed, I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, I am 
required to report that fact.

I have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters 

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken 
in the course of the audit:

• the parts of the Accountability Report to 
be audited have been properly prepared 
in accordance with Secretary of State 
directions made under the Equality Act 
2006; and

• the information given in the Performance 
and Accountability Reports for the 
financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent 
with the financial statements.

Matters on which I report by 
exception 

In the light of the knowledge and 
understanding of the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, I have 
not identified material misstatements in the 
Performance and Accountability Reports. 
I have nothing to report in respect of the 
following matters which I report to you if, in 
my opinion:

• adequate accounting records have 
not been kept or returns adequate for 
my audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by my staff; or

• the financial statements and the parts of 
the Accountability Report to be audited 
are not in agreement with the accounting 
records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of remuneration 
specified by HM Treasury’s Government 
Financial Reporting Manual are not 
made; or

• I have not received all of the information 
and explanations I require for my audit; or

• the Governance Statement does not 
reflect compliance with HM Treasury’s 
guidance.
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Responsibilities of the Commission 
and Accounting Officer for the 
financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the 
Commission and the Accounting Officer, are 
responsible for:

• the preparation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework 
and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view;

• internal controls as the Commission 
and the Accounting Officer determine 
are necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statement to be free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error;

• assessing the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Commission and 
the Accounting Officer anticipate that 
the services provided by the Equality 
and Human Rights Commission will not 
continue to be provided in the future.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements 

My responsibility is to audit, certify and report 
on the financial statements in accordance 
with the Equality Act 2006.

My objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue a certificate that includes my 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) 
will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

I design procedures in line with my 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect 
material misstatements in respect of 
non-compliance with laws and regulation, 
including fraud.

My procedures included the following:

• inquiring of management, the Equality 
and Human Rights Commission’s head 
of internal audit and those charged with 
governance, including obtaining and 
reviewing supporting documentation 
relating to the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission’s policies and procedures 
relating to:
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- identifying, evaluating and complying 
with laws and regulations and whether 
they were aware of any instances of 
non-compliance;

- detecting and responding to the 
risks of fraud and whether they have 
knowledge of any actual, suspected or 
alleged fraud; and

- the internal controls established to 
mitigate risks related to fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations 
including the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission’s controls relating 
to the Equality Act 2006 and Managing 
Public Money;

• discussing among the engagement 
team and involving relevant internal and 
external specialists, including pensions 
expertise, regarding how and where fraud 
might occur in the financial statements 
and any potential indicators of fraud. 
As part of this discussion, I identified 
potential for fraud in the following areas: 
revenue recognition and posting of 
unusual journals;

• obtaining an understanding of 
the Equality and Human Rights 
Commission’s framework of authority 
as well as other legal and regulatory 
frameworks that the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission operates in, focusing 
on those laws and regulations that had a 
direct effect on the financial statements 
or that had a fundamental effect on the 
operations of the Equality and Human 
Rights Commission. The key laws and 
regulations I considered in this context 
included the Equality Act 2006, Managing 
Public Money, employment law, tax 
legislation and pension legislation; and

• other risk assessment procedures 
performed relating to fraud, non-
compliance with laws and regulations 
and regularity including: review of 
Commissioner meeting minutes; 
attending the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee; enquiries of management, 
internal audit and those charged with 
governance; review of significant and 
unusual transactions; and review of 
segregation of duties and mitigating 
controls.

In addition to the above, my procedures 
to respond to identified risks included the 
following:

• reviewing the financial statement 
disclosures and testing to supporting 
documentation to assess compliance 
with relevant laws and regulations 
discussed above;

• enquiring of management, the Audit and 
Risk Assurance Committee and in-house 
legal counsel concerning actual and 
potential litigation and claims;

• reading minutes of meetings of those 
charged with governance and the 
Commission;

• in addressing the risk of fraud through 
management override of controls, testing 
the appropriateness of journal entries 
and other adjustments; assessing 
whether the judgements made in making 
accounting estimates are indicative 
of a potential bias; and evaluating the 
business rationale of any significant 
transactions that are unusual or outside 
the normal course of business; and
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• other audit procedures responsive 
to the risk of fraud, non-compliance 
with laws and regulation or irregularity 
as appropriate including testing of 
significant and unusual transactions, 
pension costs and other social security 
costs, and an assessment of the 
regularity of transactions tested.

I also communicated relevant identified 
laws and regulations and potential fraud 
risks to all engagement team members 
including internal specialists and significant 
component audit teams and remained alert 
to any indications of fraud or non-compliance 
with laws and regulations throughout the 
audit.

A further description of my responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s 
website. This description forms part of my 
certificate.

In addition, I am required to obtain evidence 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the income and expenditure reported in the 
financial statements have been applied to 
the purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions conform to the 
authorities which govern them.

I communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that 
I identify during my audit.

Report

I have no observations to make on these 
financial statements.

Gareth Davies 
Comptroller and Auditor General

Date: 12 July 2021

National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria, London 
SW1W 9SP
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1 April 2020 – 31 March 2021

These accounts are presented to Parliament pursuant to 
paragraph 40 of Schedule 1 to the Equality Act 2006.

The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) is a 
statutory non-departmental public body established under 
the Equality Act 2006. Its powers and duties are described in 
the 2006 and 2010 Equality Acts. 

These accounts are prepared on an accruals basis in 
accordance with the Government Financial Reporting 
Manual (FReM) and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

 Statement of  
 accounts 



Note
2020–21  

£’000
2019–20  

£’000

Income

Operating income 4 (168) (305)

Total operating income (168) (305)

Expenditure

Staff costs 3 12,606 11,853

Commissioner and committee costs 3 260 258

Purchase of goods and services 3 4,040 5,253

Depreciation and impairment charges 3 512 500

Provision expense 3 17  (161)

Other operating expenditure: 
loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment

3 – 5

Total operating expenditure 17,435 17,708

Net operating expenditure 17,267 17,403

Interest cost on pension scheme liabilities 12 25  40

Net expenditure for the year 17,292 17,443

 Statement of comprehensive net expenditure  
 (SoCNE) for the year ended 31 March 2021 

  Statement of accounts 
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Note
2020–21  

£’000
2019–20  

£’000

Other comprehensive net expenditure

Items	which	will	not	be	classified	to	net	operating	costs:

- net (gain) / loss on revaluation of property, 
plant and equipment

5 1 (22)

- net (gain) / loss on revaluation of intangible 
assets

6 3 31

- actuarial loss / (gain) on pension scheme 
liabilities

12 39 82

Comprehensive net expenditure for the year 17,335 17,534

 Statement of comprehensive net expenditure  
 (SoCNE) for the year ended 31 March 2021 

 Statement of comprehensive net expenditure 
(SoCNE) for the year ended 31 March 2021 
(continued) 
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Note
31 March 2021 

£’000
31 March 2020 

£’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 882 995

Intangible assets 6 319 330

Trade and other receivables 9 58 31

Total non-current assets 1,259 1,356

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 9 690 662

Cash and cash equivalents 8 85 185

Total current assets 775 847

Total assets 2,034 2,203

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 (1,656) (1,586)

Pension liabilities 12 (100) (98)

Total current liabilities (1,756) (1,684)

Total assets less current liabilities 278 519

 Statement of financial position as  
 at 31 March 2021 

  Statement of accounts 
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Note
31 March 2021 

£’000
31 March 2020 

£’000

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 (20) (11)

Provisions 11 (228) (211)

Pension liabilities 12 (1,325) (1,362)

Total non-current liabilities (1,573) (1,584)

Total assets less total liabilities (1,295) (1,065)

Taxpayers’ equity

Revaluation reserve SoCTE 63 62

General reserve SoCTE (1,358) (1,127)

Total equity (1,295) (1,065)

 Statement of financial position as  
 at 31 March 2021 

 Statement of financial position as  
 at 31 March 2021 (continued)

Alastair Pringle, Interim Accounting Officer

7 July 2021
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Note
2020–21  

£’000
2019–20 

£’000

Cash	flows	from	operating	activities

Net operating expenditure SoCNE (17,292)     (17,443) 

Adjustments for non-cash transactions 5/6 512 505

(Increase) / decrease in trade and other 
receivables24 

9 (55) (86)

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other 
payables  

10 79 (1,329)

Movement in provisions 11 17 (221)

Difference between movement on  
pension liabilities and amounts recognised  
in the SoCNE

12 (74) (57) 

Net	cash	outflow	from	operating	activities (16,813) (18,631)

Cash	flows	from	investing	activities

Purchase of non-financial assets 5/6 (385) (435)

Net	cash	outflow	from	investing	activities (385) (435)

 Statement of cash flows for the year ended  
 31 March 2021  

  Statement of accounts 

24 The movement in payables and receivables includes capital purchases not passing through 
the SoCNE.
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Note
2020–21 

 £’000
2019–20  

£’000

Cash	flows	from	financing	activities

Grant-in-aid received from sponsoring 
department

10 17,098 19,225

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents in the year

(100) 159

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the	financial	year

8 185 26

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial	year

85 185 

 Statement of cash flows for the year ended  
 31 March 2021  

 Statement of cash flows for the year ended  
 31 March 2021  (continued)
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Note
Revaluation 

reserve  
£’000

General 
reserve 

£’000

Total 
 

£’000

Balance at 31 March 2019  118 (2,874)  (2,756)   

Grant-in-aid received from sponsoring 
department– cash draw down

– 19,225     19,225

Net expenditure for the year – (17,443) (17,443)

Remeasurements – actuarial gain / loss on 
pension scheme liabilities

12 – (82) (82)

Revaluation of PPE and intangibles 5/6 (9) – (9)

Transfer between reserves 5/6 (47) 47 –

Balance at 31 March 2020 62 (1,127) (1,065)

Grant-in-aid received from sponsoring 
department – cash draw down

SoCNE – 17,098 17,098

Net expenditure after interest for the year SoCNE – (17,292) (17,292)

Remeasurements – actuarial gain / loss on 
pension scheme liabilities

12 – (39) (39)

Revaluation of PPE and intangibles 5/6 6 (3) 3

Transfer between reserves 5/6 (5) 5 –

Balance at 31 March 2021 63 (1,358) (1,295)

 Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity  
 (SoCTE) for the year ended 31 March 2021 

  Statement of accounts 
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 Notes to the financial statements for the  
 period ended 31 March 2021 

  Statement of accounts 

1. Accounting policies

The Equality and Human Rights Commission 
is a statutory non-departmental public 
body sponsored by the Minister for Women 
and Equalities and was established by the 
Equality Act 2006. It operates independently 
from Government and is Britain’s national 
equality body.

We operate from four offices across Britain 
located in: 

• London – Fleetbank House, Salisbury 
Square, EC4Y 8JX

• Manchester – Arndale House, Arndale 
Centre, M4 3AQ

• Cardiff – Government Buildings, St Agnes 
Rd, Gabalfa, CF14 4YJ, and 

• Glasgow – 151 West George Street,  
G2 2JJ.

These financial statements have been 
prepared in a form consistent with the 
Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary 
of State in accordance with the Equality Act 
2006, and in accordance with the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) as issued 
by HM Treasury. The accounting policies 

described in the FReM apply International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as adapted or interpreted for the public 
sector. Where the FReM permits a choice 
of accounting policy, we have selected 
the accounting policy judged to be most 
appropriate to the particular circumstances 
of our organisation for the purpose of giving 
a true and fair view. The policies we have 
adopted are described below. They have been 
applied consistently in dealing with items that 
are considered material to the accounts.

Figures in the financial statements are 
rounded to the nearest £’000 unless 
otherwise stated.

There were no changes to accounting policies 
during 2020–21. 

1.1 Accounting convention

These financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention 
modified to account for the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets where material.
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1.2 Going concern

Our financial statements have been prepared 
on a going-concern basis. This is based 
on our assessment that we will continue 
to receive funding and our operations will 
continue for the foreseeable future. This 
assessment has also considered that, for 
non-trading public sector entities like us, 
the FReM provides that ‘the anticipated 
continuation of the provision of a service 
in the future, as evidenced by inclusion 
of financial provision for that service in 
published documents, is normally sufficient 
evidence of going concern.’ 

We are financed through grant-in-aid from our 
sponsoring department, the Cabinet Office. 
The Cabinet Office has confirmed that the 
funding of the EHRC will continue and next 
year’s funding has been agreed at £17.1m 
which has been approved by Parliament. 
As an arms-length body sponsored by the 
Cabinet Office, the EHRC has no reason 
to assume that future funding will not be 
forthcoming. Our going concern assessment 
is made up to 12 months from signing date. 
This includes the first third of the 2022–23 
financial year. The EHRC has assumed that 
funding will continue beyond the 2021–22 
financial year broadly in line with current 
levels and modelling of future cash flows 
demonstrates that the organisation will have 
sufficient available cash to meet needs for 
the period of our assessment. The Equality 
Act 2006 requires the Secretary of State to 
provide sufficient funding for us to carry out 
our statutory functions.

The Framework agreement between the 
EHRC and the Cabinet office provides 
assurance that in the event of the EHRC 
being wound up any assets or liabilities of 
the EHRC will be passed to any successor 
organisation or the Cabinet Office if there is 
no successor body.

We considered the impact of COVID-19, which 
has resulted in a reprioritisation of our work, 
but concluded that it will not have a material 
impact on our ability to meet our statutory 
obligations or our funding. 

In conclusion, these factors, and the 
anticipated future provision of services in the 
public sector, support the EHRC’s adoption of 
the going concern basis for the preparation of 
the accounts.

1.3 Accounting judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of our accounting policies 
and the preparation of financial statements 
management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. 
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The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are continually reviewed. The nature of 
estimation, however, means that actual 
outcomes could differ from those estimates 
and could cause adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year.  

Areas of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions 
concerning the future and other key sources 
of estimation uncertainty at the time of the 
statement of our financial position:

• Provisions: Discount rates for provisions 
are set by HM Treasury, are updated 
annually and may have an effect on 
liabilities disclosed.

• Retirement benefit obligations: The former 
Chair’s pension scheme is unfunded and 
exposes us to uncertainty arising from 
the actuarial valuation of the scheme, 
which uses factors such as changes in 
life expectancy and discount rates to 
calculate the scheme’s total liability.

1.4 Newly issued IFRS not yet 
effective

We apply new or amended IFRS in line with 
their adoption by the FReM.

IFRS 16 Leases – Given the consequences 
of COVID-19 and the associated reporting 
burden, HM Treasury agreed with the 
Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) 
in November 2020 to further defer the 
implementation of IFRS 16 until 1 April 2022.

The standard replaces IAS 17 ‘Leases’ and 
represents a change in lease accounting 
by requiring holders of leases to recognise 
assets and liabilities for all leases on their 
statement of financial position. Following 
discussions with the Cabinet Office the 
following group policies were agreed:

• to accept that IFRS 16 will not be applied 
to short-term leases (less than one year) 
(as mandated by the FReM), and

• to agree that Cabinet Office Group's low-
value lease threshold will be £5,000.

We carried out an initial assessment 
to calculate the impact of reclassifying 
operating leases relating to premises that 
we currently occupy. Our assessment is 
that this will have a material impact on our 
statement of financial position due to the 
remaining period of the leases at the point 
of assessment, although it has not been 
possible to estimate the potential impact at 
this point. 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts replace IFRS 4 
Insurance contracts and is expected to be 
effective for accounting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2023, following a decision 
to defer the effective date by one year.

Our assessment is that this will have no 
impact on our financial statements because 
we do not enter into insurance contracts.

We have not adopted any standards early.
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1.5 Grant-in-aid 

The FReM requires us to account for grant-
in-aid received as financing and to credit this 
to taxpayers’ equity. This is due to grant-in-
aid being regarded as a contribution from 
a controlling party, which gives rise to a 
financial interest in the residual interest of our 
organisation.

Grant-in-aid received for purchasing  
non-current assets is also credited to 
taxpayers’ equity.

1.6	Employee	benefits		

Benefits	payable	during	employment	

Under ‘IAS19: Employee benefits’, staff salary 
costs are recorded as an expense as soon as 
an organisation is obliged to pay them.

Performance payments are paid in arrears 
during the subsequent financial year; the cost 
of these is recognised on an accruals basis at 
the end of the financial year and is calculated 
as a fixed proportion of the total pay bill, 
which represents the maximum amount that 
can be paid out.

 

Employee leave accrual

We accrue for any annual leave entitlement 
not taken at the year-end which employees 
can carry forward into the next financial year.

1.7 Operating segments  

Operating segments (note 2) are based on 
the main reporting areas of our organisation 
(Networks) and align with our internal 
reporting. Since segmental information 
for assets and liabilities is not reported to 
the chief operating decision-maker at a 
segmental level, these are not included in the 
segmental reporting analysis. 

The chief operating decision maker has been 
identified as the Interim Accounting Officer of 
our organisation.

1.8 Recognition of income and 
expenditure   

Activity is accounted for in the year in which it 
takes place and is recognised in the financial 
statements on an accruals basis.

Expenses from services received (including 
services provided by employees) are recorded 
as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made.
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Operating income is principally the recovery 
(either full or partial) of costs incurred from 
other parties. Income is recognised when the 
transaction can be reliably measured and it is 
probable that economic benefits associated 
with the transaction will flow to the EHRC. 
Main sources in 2020–21 are:

- Grant funding from the Foreign, 
Commonwealth and Development Office 
to fund the EHRC’s period as Chair of the 
Commonwealth Forum of National Human 
Rights Institutions. Costs are recovered 
quarterly in arrears on the submission of an 
approved claim.

- Lease income represents the recovery of 
a proportion of the running cost of our 
Manchester office based on the proportion 
of floor space occupied. 

Where income and expenditure has been 
recognised but cash has not been received or 
paid, a receivable or payable for the relevant 
amount is recorded in our statement of 
financial position

1.9 Prepayments  

Prepayments for goods and services which 
are to be provided in future periods are 
recorded as assets in our statement of 
financial position and recognised as an 
expense either when the goods or service are 
received or over the life of the agreement.

Items are recognised for prepayment if the 
total cost exceeds £100, items include: 

• Where a contractual obligation exists to 
pay for goods or services in advance of 
consumption (for example building lease 
charges) the cost is expensed over the 
period of the charge.

• Licence costs, subscriptions and 
maintenance agreements which are paid 
in full in advance are expensed across 
the duration of the agreement.
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1.10 Property, plant and equipment  

Recognition 

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation 
or enhancement of property, plant and 
equipment is capitalised on an accruals 
basis, provided that a future economic benefit 
can be recognised, where the expected useful 
lives of the assets exceeds one year and that 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
Expenditure that maintains but does not 
add to an asset’s potential to deliver future 
economic benefits or service potential (for 
example, for repairs and maintenance) is 
charged as an expense when it is incurred. 

We have a £3,000 de minimis limit for 
capital expenditure, either individually or in 
related groups.

All property, plant and equipment is 
measured initially at cost, representing the 
cost attributable to acquiring the asset and 
bringing it into use in the manner intended 
by management. Assets that are held for 
their service potential and are in use are 
measured subsequently at their current 
value in existing use.

All assets are restated at current value each 
year using producer price indices published 
by the Office for National Statistics, which 
we deem to be the most appropriate 
valuation methodology available. Any gain 
on revaluation is credited to the revaluation 
reserve. Any loss is debited to the revaluation 
reserve to the extent that a gain has 
previously been recorded, and otherwise 
to the statement of comprehensive net 
expenditure.

 

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated 
using the straight-line basis. Depreciation 
(the reduction in value over time) is charged 
over the estimated useful economic life of an 
asset, commencing when the asset is placed 
in service.

We estimate the useful economic lives of 
assets as follows:

• Fit-out costs for premises: the lower of 
the useful economic life of the fit-out 
costs and the life of the lease.

• Office furniture: 10 to 15 years.

• Computer hardware, networking 
equipment and telecomms equipment: 
2 to 7 years.

 
Impairment

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 36, 
Impairment of Assets, has been adapted in 
the FReM. 

Impairments that are due to a clear 
consumption of economic benefit 
should be recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure, rather than 
set against an available revaluation reserve.

Where impairment losses are identified 
that are not due to consumption, they are 
accounted for as follows: 

• Where there is a balance of revaluation 
gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset 
is written down against that balance (up 
to the amount of the accumulated gains). 
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• Where there is no balance in the 
Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the 
asset is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure. 

Where asset revaluations cause impairment, 
an assessment is carried out to determine 
whether the impairment is due to 
consumption of economic benefit and 
should be recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure.

 
Disposals

When an asset is disposed of or 
decommissioned, the carrying amount of 
the asset is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure as a loss 
on disposal. Receipts from disposals are 
credited to the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure as a gain on disposal (this is, 
netted off against the carrying value of the 
asset at the time of disposal).

1.11 Intangible assets  

Recognition

Intangible assets are acquired computer 
software licences and costs incurred in the 
development phase of internal computer 
software projects. 

Intangible assets are recognised at cost 
initially, assets are revalued annually using 
producer price indices published by the Office 
for National Statistics, which we deem to be 
the most appropriate valuation methodology. 

Any gain on revaluation is credited to the 
revaluation reserve. Any loss is debited to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that a gain 
has been recorded previously, and otherwise 
to the statement of comprehensive net 
expenditure. 

Costs incurred in the developmental phase of 
internal software projects are only capitalised 
if they are associated directly with the 
production of identifiable computer software 
programs controlled by our organisation 
that would generate economic benefits 
beyond one year, and provided that a number 
of criteria are satisfied. These include the 
technical feasibility of completing the asset 
so that it is available for use, the availability 
of adequate resources to complete the 
development and use the asset, and how the 
asset will generate future economic benefit.

Where computer software development 
costs are capitalised, these are amortised 
(written off gradually) in accordance with the 
amortisation policy. Other costs associated 
with developing or maintaining computer 
software programmes are recognised as an 
expense when incurred. 
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Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over the 
estimated useful economic life of the asset 
using the straight-line basis, commencing 
when the asset is placed in service. Assets 
are assessed on an individual basis and an 
appropriate life applied dependent on the 
characteristics of the asset according to the 
following:

• software and associated services are 
assessed over the term of the software 
license, and

• information technologies are assessed 
over five years or over the unexpired time 
of the software license (whichever is 
shorter).

 
Impairment

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 36, 
Impairment of Assets, has been adapted in 
the FReM.

Impairments that are due to a clear 
consumption of economic benefit 
should be recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure, rather than 
set against an available revaluation reserve.

Where impairment losses not due to 
consumption are identified, they are 
accounted for as follows: 

• Where there is a balance of revaluation 
gains for the asset in the Revaluation 
Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset 
is written down against that balance (up 
to the amount of the accumulated gains). 

• Where there is no balance in the 
Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the 
asset is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure. 

Where asset revaluations give rise to 
impairment, an assessment is carried out 
to determine if the impairment is due to 
consumption of economic benefit and 
should be recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure.

 
Disposals

When an asset is disposed of or 
decommissioned, the carrying amount of 
the asset is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure as a loss 
on disposal. Receipts from disposals are 
credited to the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure as a gain on disposal (that 
is, netted off against the carrying value of the 
asset at the time of disposal).
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1.12 Provisions, contingent liabilities 
and contingent assets 

Provisions

In accordance with IAS 37 provisions 
are recognised when we have a legal or 
constructive obligation from a past event and 
an outflow of economic benefits will probably 
be required to settle the obligation, and the 
amount of the obligation can be assessed 
reliably. 

For legal costs a provision is made when 
there is a probability of greater than 50% of 
our organisation losing the case and being 
ordered to pay costs. We take on legal cases 
to challenge and clarify the law, which may 

result in judgement being made against us. 
The assessment is carried out on a case-by-
case basis, taking the advice of external legal 
experts. 

For dilapidations, a provision is made for the 
estimated costs of returning premises to 
their original condition at the end of the lease 
period where there is an obligation contained 
in the lease. Where a value is not stated 
we use a rate per square foot based on a 
professional valuation.

Where an annual assessment is not provided, 
provisions are discounted according to the 
HM Treasury discount rate (indicated in the 
table below) when their use is expected to be 
more than a year from the date of creation.

Annual report and accounts 2020–21 103

HMT General provisions discount rates 2020–21 
£’000

2019–20 
£’000

Short-term: applied on cash flows from up to and 
including five years from the date of the Statement of 
Financial Position

(0.02%) 0.51%

Medium-term: applied on cash flows from after five 
and up to and including 10 years from the date of the 
Statement of Financial Position

0.18% 0.55%



Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability arises where an event 
has taken place that gives us a possible 
obligation which will only be confirmed by 
the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly under our control 
of. Contingent liabilities also occur when a 
provision would otherwise be made but it is 
not probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured reliably.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the 
financial statements but are disclosed in a 
note to the accounts.

 
Contingent assets 

A contingent asset arises where an event 
has taken place that gives us a possible 
asset which will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly under our control. 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the 
financial statements but disclosed in a note 
to the accounts when it is probable that there 
will be an inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential.

1.13 Access to Work scheme 

We make use of the Access to Work scheme 
run by the Department for Work and Pensions 
(DWP), which considers what reasonable 
adjustments are required for a person to do 
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their job. We pay for the equipment or service 
required to make the adjustment and the 
DWP reimburses us an agreed proportion of 
the cost under a funding agreement.

1.14 Pensions 

Past and present employees are covered 
by the provisions of the Principal Civil 
Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) and the 
Civil Servants and Other Pension Scheme 
(CSOPS). The defined-benefit elements of the 
scheme are unfunded and non-contributory 
except in respect of dependants’ benefits. 
We recognise the expected cost of these 
elements on a systematic and rational basis 
over the period during which we benefit 
from employees’ services by paying into 
the PCSPS / CSOPS amounts calculated on 
an accruing basis. Liability for payment of 
future benefits is a charge on the PCSPS / 
CSOPS. Regarding the defined-contribution 
elements of the scheme, we recognise the 
contributions payable for the year.

Pension benefits for former Chairs of our 
organisation and legacy organisations 
are provided under a ‘broadly by analogy’ 
scheme. The scheme disclosures are 
stated in accordance with IAS 19, Employee 
Benefits. This scheme is an unfunded 
defined-benefit scheme managed by the 
Home Office Shared Service Centre, and any 
pensions are administered by it in accordance 
with the standard rules (by analogy with the 
PCSPS).



Where actuarial gains and losses arise 
from changes to actuarial assumptions 
when revaluing future benefits, and from 
actual experience in respect of scheme 
liabilities and investment performance of 
scheme assets being different from previous 
assumptions, then the actuarial gains and 
losses are recognised directly in taxpayers’ 
equity for the year.

1.15 Leases 

In line with IAS 17, leases are identified as 
finance leases or operating leases based 
on the extent to which risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of a leased asset lie 
with the lessor or lessee. Whether the lease is 
a finance lease or an operating lease depends 
on the substance of the transaction rather 
than the contract. Leases are classed as 
finance leases where the terms of the lease 
transfer the majority of the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the property, plant 
or equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases.

We do not have any finance leases.

Operating leases and lease incentive (periods 
of rent-free occupation) are charged to the 
(SoCNE) on a straight-line basis over the 
life of the lease; the organisation currently 
occupies buildings under operating leases 
where the Landlord charges for rent and 
associated services. 

1.16 Related-party transactions 

We are required to disclose material 
transactions with related parties, bodies 
or individuals that have the potential to 
control or influence our organisation or to be 
controlled or influenced by us. 

Disclosure of these transactions allows 
readers to assess how we might have 
been constrained in our ability to operate 
independently or might have secured the 
ability to limit another party’s ability to 
bargain freely with us. 

1.17 Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period are those, 
both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and 
the date when the statement of accounts is 
authorised for issue. Two types of events can 
be identified: 

• Adjusting events: Those events that 
provide evidence of conditions that 
existed at the end of the reporting period 
– the statement of accounts is adjusted 
to reflect such events. 

• Non-adjusting events: Those events that 
are indicative of conditions that arose 
after the reporting period – the statement 
of accounts is not adjusted to reflect 
such events. However, where a category 
of events would have a material effect, 
disclosure is made in the notes regarding 
the nature of the events and either their 
estimated financial effect or a statement 
that such an estimate cannot be made 
reliably. 
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2. Statement of outturn by operating  
segment

Our operations are divided into networks, 
each led by an Executive Director. These 
networks and the teams included in each are 
summarised below.

England, Corporate Impact and 
Improvement

• Communications, International and 
Correspondence

• Estates and Facilities

• People Team

• Finance, Procurement, Performance and 
Effectiveness Unit (PEU) and Governance, 
and

• Information Technology.

Wales, Corporate Strategy and Policy

• Human Rights, Treaty Monitoring and 
Research

• Policy

• Strategy, and

• Wales (including the Wales Committee).

Scotland, Corporate Delivery and 
Legal

• Compliance (inquiries)

• Scotland (including the  
Scotland Committee)

• Legal and Enforcement  
(investigation), and

• Corporate Law and Information 
Governance.

During the reporting period there was 
a change to our internal organisational 
structure in which the Strategy and 
Governance Directorate was split into two 
teams. The Strategy team remained under 
the Wales, Corporate Strategy and Policy 
network and the Governance team moved 
to the England Corporate Impact and 
Improvement network. 

The 2019–20 totals in the table below have 
been amended to provide comparatives for 
the previous year. 



2020–21
Gross 

expenditure 
£’000

Income 
£’000

Net  
expenditure 

£’000

England, Corporate Improvement 
and Impact

7,501 (145) 7,356

Scotland, Corporate Delivery and 
Legal

5,458 (22) 5,436

Wales, Corporate Strategy and 
Policy

3,964 (1) 3,963

Total operating expenditure 16,923 (168) 16,755

Depreciation and amortisation 
charge

512 – 512

Interest cost on pension scheme 
liabilities

25 – 25 

Total net expenditure 17,460 (168) 17,292 
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Capital expenditure, assets and liabilities are not reported to the chief operating decision-maker at 
a segmental level and have not therefore been included in this table. 

2019–20
Gross 

expenditure 
£’000

Income 
£’000

Net  
expenditure 

£’000

England, Corporate Improvement 
and Impact

6,644 (264) 6,380

Scotland, Corporate Delivery and 
Legal

6,057 (39) 6,018

Wales, Corporate Strategy and 
Policy

4,502 (2) 4,500

Total operating expenditure 17,203 (305) 16,898

Depreciation and amortisation 
charge

505 – 505

Interest cost on pension scheme 
liabilities

40 – 40

Total net expenditure 17,748 (305) 17,443
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Year ended  
31 March 2021  

£’000

Year ended  
31 March 2020  

£’000

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 8,815 8,184

Social security costs 971 902

Apprentice Levy 30 27

Pension costs 2,432 2,245

Untaken annual leave 108 (8)

Inward secondments 160 152

Recoveries in respect of outward 
secondments

(181) (149)

Agency staff 271 500

Chair’s and Commissioners’ emoluments (fees 
and expenses)

260 258

Total staff costs25 12,866 12,111

25 Further detail is provided in the Remuneration and Staff Report (page 61).
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3. Expenditure



Year ended  
31 March 2021 

£’000

Year ended  
31 March 2020 

£’000

Purchase of goods and services

Premises costs (non-lease) 725 582

ICT and telecommunications 684 591

Rentals under operating leases 597 600

Legal 525 1,436

Publication and information 396 428

Research and policy development 307 309

Support and office services 352 304

Staff support, recruitment and training 205 258

Advisory services 132 229

Access to Work scheme 56 72

External auditors’ remuneration 56 53

Travel and subsistence 5 391

Total purchase of goods and services 4,040 5,253

Non-cash items

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 393 467

Amortisation of intangible assets 119 33

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 5

Provision expense 14 (160)

Borrowing costs of provisions (unwinding of discount on 
provisions)

3 (1)

Net operating expenditure 17,435 17,708

Interest cost on pension scheme liabilities 25 40

Total expenditure 17,460 17,748
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3. Expenditure (continued)



Note
Year ended  

31 March 2021 
£’000

Year ended  
31 March 2020 

£’000

Staff costs

Grants received 120 218

Lease income 21 43

Access to Work scheme 26 42

Other income 1 2

Total income 168 305

Notes:

• Grants received are income received from the Foreign, Commonwealth and 
Development Office to cover the additional costs we incurred as Chair of the 
Commonwealth forum of NHRIs.

• Lease income represents income from the sub-let of an area of our Manchester 
office to another Government department; the income covers costs outlaid in 
relation to rent, service charge, business rates and other costs.

• The Access to Work scheme provides support to employees, costs are incurred 
and a proportion is recovered from the scheme and recognised as income; we 
fund non-recoverable costs (see section 1.13).
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4. Income



 2020–21 Leasehold 
improvement26 

£’000

IT and 
telecoms 

equipment 
£’000

Furniture 
£’000

Payments on 
account and assets 
under construction 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2020 1,614 1,439 439 16 3,508

Additions in year – 65 7 206 278

Disposals – – – – –

Reclassifications 
and transfers

– 9 – (9) –

Revaluations 7 (3) 2 – 6

At 31 March 2021 1,621 1,510 448 213 3,792

Depreciation

At 1 April 2020 1,238 1,054 221 – 2,513

Charge in year 167 199 26 – 392

Disposals – – – – –

Revaluations 6 (2) 1 – 5

At 31 March 2021 1,411 1,251 248 – 2,910

Carrying value

At 31 March 2020 376 385 219 16 995

At 31 March 2021 210 259 200 213 882

Payments on account and assets under construction include ICT equipment currently being configured 
These amounts include accruals and do not necessarily represent a cash outflow in the current year.

26 Leasehold improvement costs include the costs of fitting out premises that our 
organisation occupies under a lease; assets are depreciated over the term of the lease.
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5. Plant, property and equipment



2019–20 Leasehold 
improvement 

£’000

IT and 
telecoms 

equipment 
£’000

Furniture 
£’000

Payments on 
account and assets 
under construction 

£’000
Total 
£’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2019 1,482 1,413 419 57 3,371

Additions in year 76 15 53 16 160

Disposals – (12) (73) – (85)

Reclassifications 
and transfers

14 8 35 (57) –

Revaluations 42 15 5 – 62

At 31 March 2020 1,614 1,439 439 16 3,508

Depreciation

At 1 April 2019 1,043 777 266 – 2,086

Charge in year 165 280 22 – 467

Disposals – (12) (68) – (80)

Revaluations 30 9 1 – 40

At 31 March 2020 1,238 1,054 221 – 2,513

Carrying value

At 31 March 2019 439 636 153 57 1,285

At 31 March 2020 376 385 218 16 995
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5. Plant, property and equipment 
(continued)



 2020–21 
Software  

£’000

Payments on 
account and 
assets under 
construction 

£’000
Total  
£’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2020 346 186 532

Additions 106 – 106

Disposals (63) – (63)

Reclassification 186 (186) –

Revaluations 7 – 7

At 31 March 2021 582 – 582

Amortisation

At 1 April 2020 201 – 201

Charge in year 119 – 119

Disposals (63) – (63)

Revaluations 6 – 6

At 31 March 2021 263 – 263

Carrying value

At 31 March 2020 144 186 330

At 31 March 2021 319 – 319
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6. Intangible assets



2019–20
Software  

£’000

Payments on 
account and 
assets under 
construction 

£’000
Total  
£’000

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2019 213 110 323

Additions 89 186 275

Disposals (29)       – (29)

Reclassification 110 (110) –

Revaluations (37) – (37)

At March 2020 346 186 532

Amortisation

At 1 April 2019 203 – 203

Charge in year 33 – 33

Disposals (29) – (29)

Revaluations (5) – (5)

At 31 March 2021 202 – 202

Carrying value

At 31 March 2019 9 110 119

At 31 March 2020 144 186 330
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6. Intangible assets (continued)



As our cash requirements are met through 
the estimate process of our sponsoring 
department, financial instruments play a 
more limited role in creating and managing 
risk than would apply in a non-public-sector 
body. The majority of financial instruments 
we hold relate to contracts to buy non-
financial items in line with our expected 
purchase and usage requirements, so our 
exposure to credit, liquidity and market risk is 
considered minimal.

2019–20
2020–21 

£’000
2019–20 

£’000

At 1 April 2020 185 26

Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances (100) 159

Balance at 31 March 2021 85 185
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7. Financial instruments

8. Cash and cash equivalents



2019–20
2020–21 

£’000
2019–20 

£’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Receivables 12 46

Prepayments 603 520

Accrued income 18 44

Contract assets 57 52

Total falling due within one year 690 662

Amounts falling due after one year

Prepayments 58 31

Total receivables 748 693
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9. Trade receivables, financial and 
other assets



2019–20
2020–21 

£’000
2019–20 

£’000

Amounts falling due within one year

Accruals 557 667

Trade payables 226 6

Other taxation and social security 250 354

Holiday pay accrual 349 241

Pension payments 237 287

Rent-free accrual 27 9

Contract liabilities 1 11

VAT 9 11

Total falling due within one year 1,656 1,586

Amounts falling due after one year

Rent-free accrual 20 11

Total payables 1,676 1,597
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10. Trade payables and other current  
liabilities



Dilapidation 
provision 

£’000

Total 
provisions 

£’000

Balance at 1 April 2020 211 211

Provided in year 14 14

Provisions not required / written back – –

Unwinding of discount rate 2 2

Change in discount rate 1 1

Balance at 31 March 2021 228 228

Ageing of provisions
Dilapidation 

provision 
£’000

Total 
provisions 

£’000

Not later than one year – –

Later than one and not later than five years 228 228

Later than five years – –

Total 228 228
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11. Provisions for liabilities and 
charges



Assumptions % 31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Rate used to discount scheme liabilities 1.25 1.80

Rate of inflation: Consumer Prices Index 2.22 2.35

Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred 
pensions

2.22 2.35

Liabilities
31 March 2021 

£’000
31 March 2020 

£’000

Active members (past service) – –

Deferred pensioners 142 138

Current pensioners 1,283 1,322

Net present value of scheme liabilities 1,425 1,460

Pension liabilities comprise pension benefits 
for the former Chair of the EHRC and 
former Chairs and Deputy Chairs of legacy 
Commissions. The benefits are provided 
under a scheme broadly by analogy with the 
PCSPS. 

The pension scheme is unfunded, with 
benefits being paid as they fall due and 
guaranteed by our organisation. There is 
no fund and therefore no surplus, deficit 
or assets. The Government Actuary’s 
Department, using the financial assumptions 
in the tables below, has calculated the 
scheme liabilities at 31 March 2021.
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12. Pension liabilities (retirement 
benefit obligations)



Experience gain arising on the scheme liabilities amounted to £24,000 (a £16,000 loss in 2019–20), 
changes in the demographic and financial assumptions underlying the valuation of the scheme 
have resulted in a loss to the scheme of £63,000 (a £66,000 loss in 2019–20). 

The total re-measurements were a loss of £39,000 (an £82,000 loss in 2019–20) recognised 
directly in taxpayers’ equity.

Analysis of movement in scheme liability
2020–21 

£’000
2019–20 

£’000

Balance at 1 April 1,460 1,435

Net interest 25 40

Actuarial loss / (gain) – in other comprehensive 
expenditure

39 82

Less benefits paid (99) (97)

Present value of scheme liabilities 1,425 1,460

Actuarial gains / losses to be recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

2020–21 
£’000

2019–20 
£’000

Experience loss / (gain) arising on the scheme liabilities (24) 16

Changes in assumptions underlying the present value 
of the scheme liabilities

63 66

Net total actuarial loss / (gain) in other comprehensive 
expenditure

39 82
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The sensitivity analysis of Scheme Liabilities defined benefit obligations (DBO) to changes in  
the significant actuarial assumptions (keeping all other assumptions unchanged) indicates  
the following:

Opposite changes in assumptions to those above would produce approximately equal and 
opposite changes in the DBO. Similarly, doubling the changes in the assumptions will produce 
approximately double the changes in the DBO. The sensitivities show the changes in each 
assumption in isolation. In practice, such assumptions rarely change in isolation and given the 
interdependencies between them, the impacts may offset to some extent.

The longevity assumptions used in the valuation of the scheme are detailed in the table below:

Life expectancy at retirement

Experience loss / (gain) as a percentage of scheme 
liabilities

2020–21 
£’000

2019–20 
£’000

Experience loss / (gain) arising on the scheme liabilities (24) 16

Net present value of the scheme liabilities 1,425 1,460

Percentage of scheme liabilities at the year end (1.70) 1.10

% £’000

Rate of discounting scheme liabilities + 0.5% a year -5%   (69)

Rate of increase in CPI + 0.5% a year +5%  75

Life expectancy – each member assumed  
1 year younger that their actual age

+4%  52

Current pensioners Exact age
31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Men  
Years

Women 
Years

Men  
Years

Women 
Years

60 26.9 28.6 26.8 28.4

65 22.0 23.7 21.9 23.5
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Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given below for each of the 
following periods:

Buildings are occupied under rental agreements or a memorandum of terms of 
occupation with other government bodies; all with a definite end date. 

No other items are currently held under operating leases.

There are no obligations under finance leases.

Obligations under operating leases comprise
31 March 2021 

£’000
31 March 2020 

£’000

Premises leases

Not later than one year 601 604

Later than one year but not later than five years 426 552 

Later than five years ‒ – –‒

Total 1,027 1,156

Significant	commitments	(greater	than	£50,000)	 
at 31 March

31 March 2021 
£’000

31 March 2020 
£’000

Premises leases

Fit-out of new London location 333 –

Completion of ICT infrastructure upgrade 60 – 

Total 393 –
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13. Commitments under leases

14. Capital commitments
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There were no contingent liabilities on 31 March 2021.

The EHRC is a non-departmental public body sponsored by the Cabinet Office which is regarded 
as a related party. During the year we received £17.098m of funding in the form of grant-in aid. 
No other significant transactions have taken place.

We have transacted with the Government Property Agency, an executive agency of the Cabinet 
Office and have made payments to the GPA in respect of property leased by the EHRC. We 
have also transacted with other Government departments in the normal performance of our 
functions. 

We do not have any subsidiaries.

No board member or manager has undertaken any material transactions with us during the 
reporting period except for remuneration and re-imbursement of expenses incurred which is 
reported on pages 56–66

There were no events between the Statement of Financial Position date and the date the 
accounts were authorised for issue.

Authorised for issue

The accounts have been authorised for issue by the Interim Accounting Officer on the same 
date as the Comptroller and Auditor General’s Audit Certificate.

15. Contingent liabilities disclosed  
under IAS 37

16. Related party transactions

17. Events after the reporting period



 Contacts 

This publication and related equality and human  
rights resources are available from our website. 

Questions and comments regarding this publication may be addressed to:  
correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com. We welcome your feedback.

For information on accessing one of our publications in an alternative format,  
please contact: correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com.

Keep up to date with our latest news, events and publications by signing up to our 
e-newsletter. 

 
EASS 
For advice, information or guidance on equality, discrimination or human rights 
issues, please contact the Equality Advisory and Support Service, a free and 
independent service.

Telephone  0808 800 0082

Textphone  0808 800 0084

Hours   09:00 to 19:00 (Monday to Friday) 
  10:00 to 14:00 (Saturday)

Post   FREEPOST EASS HELPLINE FPN6521 

@ 2021 Equality and Human Rights Commission 

Published July 2021 

ISBN 978-1-5286-2655-2
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